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Investing in peripheral retail

As in other countries, the owning and letting of out-of-

town retail properties has become a mature niche market, 

with increasingly professional lessors and tenants. Out-of-

town retailing is constantly growing its market share at the 

expense of other retail channels.

The properties are let out on an unfitted (‘casco’) basis, 

with clearly defined and controllable maintenance 

obligations. This, and the fact that the sector has few 

vacancy or rent collection problems, explains why property 

values have remained so far very stable even in difficult 

economic times.

Investing in Retail Estates

Retail Estates, with its team of 14 staff, is specifically 

committed to the niche of out-of-town retailing and has 

become a reference in the sector over the last 13 years. 

Retail Estates has a strong defensive profile in terms of 

investment and financing strategy. Shareholders enjoy the 

value that this type of real estate continues to generate as 

well as a stable dividend policy with an annually increasing 

dividend.
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Risk Management

1. Market value of the property

The value of the portfolio is assessed quarterly by an independent expert. A fall in value leads to a fall in the company’s 

equity and a rise in the value leads to a rise in the company’s equity.

The value of out-of-town retail properties is mainly determined by the commercial value of the property locations. As a 

result of the shortage of well-located sites, the evolution of supply and demand is exerting upward pressure, both in the 

market for private investors and among institutional investors. Values are generally inflation-proof due to rent indexing, 

but are also interest-sensitive because of the high level of debt with which many investors work. 

Institutional investors’ willingness to invest can suffer sharp temporary falls owing to macro-economic factors influencing 
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the availability and cost of credit. Experience shows that the private investor market, which continues to represent over 

60% of investments, is less sensitive here.

 

2. Developments in the rental market

Various risks obviously arise in this area, not only in the field of vacant properties, but also as regards rentability, the 

quality of tenants, building ageing and the trend in supply and demand in the rental market. These are reflected in the 

first instance in the evolution of rental values. Of course, rental payment risks also exist despite precautions taken by 

management, which tries to do everything possible to review the creditworthiness and reliability of tenants in advance. 
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Tenants’ creditworthiness can also undergo significant changes, however, during the course of the lease, without the 

lessor being able to terminate the relationship unilaterally, given that legislation on commercial lease agreements 

provides extensive longterm protection for tenants. In such cases even the customary 3 to 6 month bank guarantee is 

insufficient to cushion all risks. The legislation on commercial letting agreements and the law on company continuity 

provide lessees with extensive and long-term protection, and in the case of disputes are often interpreted flexibly 

by judges in favour of the lessee. On top of this tenants, but not lessors, are legally entitled to terminate the lease 

agreement unilaterally every three years.

3. Structural state of the buildings

Management does everything possible to anticipate these risks and, to this end, adopts a consistent policy on the major 

repairs that are the lessor’s responsibility. In practice, these are mainly limited to renovating car parks and roofs.

4. Financial risks

Duration of the loans

Financing is concluded on a long-term basis in the form of “bullet loans”, i.e. loans whose capital must be repaid in 

a single installment after a period of 5 to 10 years. During the life of the loan, the sicafi/bevak pays only interest. The 

company has renewed its main long-term financing arrangements. In this way the average term of its credit agreements 

amounted to 4.8 years at 31 March 2011.

Use of financial instruments

The company is exposed to the risk of higher financial costs through changing interest rates. The company applies a 

conservative policy, which keeps this interest risk to a minimum.
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For covering the interest rate risk on long-term loans negotiated on a floating rate basis, Retail Estates nv makes use of 

Interest Rate Swaps. The terms of these instruments are aligned with those of the underlying credits. If the Euribor interest 

rate (the interest rate for short-term loans) falls sharply, the market value of instruments undergoes a negative variation. 

This negative variation does not, however, impact the net profit of Retail Estates nv, given that this is effective hedging 

within the meaning of IAS 39. Cash flow hedge accounting is therefore applied to these swaps, based on which variations 

in the value of these swaps are taken directly into equity and do not appear in Retail Estates’ income statement.

In an interest rate swap, the floating interest rate is exchanged for a fixed interest rate. Interest on loans totalling EUR 

199.67 million is covered by such agreements. Other credits in an amount of EUR 32.56 million have been concluded with 

fixed interest rates for the entire term of the loan. Only EUR 36.71 million of credits are at floating rates and unhedged. 

Retail Estates’ average interest rate is 4.97%.

5. Permits

The value of out-of-town retail properties is largely dependent on holding all of the urban planning permits and licences 

required under the trading premises legislation as a function of the intended purpose of the premises. 

Management pays the necessary attention to this issue when acquiring and developing stores. Where external 

circumstances require a change in retail activity, modifications to previously granted licences and permits must be applied 

for. 

Obtaining such changes is frequently a time-consuming and far from transparent process, with properties lying 

temporarily vacant even though lessees have been found for them.

Management tries to limit the risks in such situations by maintaining realistic expectations of lease renewals.
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6. Modification of the traffic infrastructure

By definition out-of-town retail property is reached mainly by main roads, which are the responsibility of the regional 

governments. As a function of traffic safety these roads are regularly relaid with new roundabouts, bicycle lanes, etc. Such 

reconstruction work usually benefits the commercial value of our retail premises as the traffic flow is often slowed down 

and the surroundings of the shops are made safer. However, the possibility that the accessibility of some retail premises 

may consequently suffer in exceptional cases cannot be excluded.

7. Risks linked to the acquisition of property via share transactions

A substantial portion of the property portfolio has been acquired by gaining control of property companies. These 

companies are then absorbed by Retail Estates nv, which in so doing takes over their complete assets and liabilities. 

Management takes the necessary precautions to identify possible risks prior to gaining control and to obtain the required 

contractual guarantees from the seller/contributor.
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8. Soil remediation

At a number of locations where the company owns retail properties, potentially polluting activities were previously carried 

out. For such – by definition historical – pollution, Retail Estates nv is in principle not responsible. The lessees’ activities in 

general imply only a limited risk of pollution, which moreover falls under the lessee’s responsibility. The procedures under 

the currently applicable legislation in the three regions are, however, complex, potentially leading to time-consuming 

investigation and research costs upon transfer of real estate. Earthmoving regulations also represent an additional cost 

should polluted soil need to be handled on such sites.
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Letter to the shareholders

Operationally, 2010-2011 was a near-perfect year for Retail Estates nv. Occupancy remained at a historical high 98.15%, with 

almost no loss of rental income.

City-periphery retailing, dominated by the (soft) discount sector, enjoyed the confidence of consumers. Macro-economic 

uncertainties and the anticipated budgetary measures failed to bring any fall in private consumption. 

Vigilance remains more than ever the order of the day. The quality and distribution of Retail Estates nv's investment locations 

is the best protection against any weakening of consumer behaviour.

Inflation has returned, and with it rent increases, which are still within acceptable bounds for our tenants, the more so 

because, for historical reasons, our rents are still largely below the average market asking price for leases to new tenants.

With strong interest from private investors keeping investor expectations of yield stable, higher rents mean in turn higher 

real estate valuations.

The financing policy of recent years has been continued. Retail Estates nv funds its operations with long-term bank loans, 

with only a limited portion of the loans (19.02 million) having two-year maturities.  The long-term loans are for the most part 

(86%) hedged against a possible rise in interest rates. Several capital increases totalling EUR 18.57 million were undertaken 

during the financial year at issue prices that reflect the rising share price and the net asset value of the share.

The result of these activities is the growth of the company's portfolio and capital base in the best possible conditions. This 

enhances the defensive profile of our business.

The dividend policy too remains unchanged. The dividend of EUR 2.70 gross (EUR 2.295 net) represents an increase of 3%, 

as in prior years. For the new 2011-2012 year the dividend is expected to increase by a similar amount (EUR 2.80 gross / 

EUR 2.38 net) (+3.70%). In this way, Retail Estates nv will have paid out a prudent 80,57% of its 2010-2011 of its current net 

result.
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Last year we also invested heavily in optimizing the property portfolio with expansions and improvements to buildings in our 

top portfolio locations.

The property portfolio also passed the symbolic barrier of EUR 500 million fair value. For us this reference serves mainly to 

point to the fact that the company has grown to an optimal size in terms of basic operations.  With a team of 14 employees 

covering the main commercial, financial and legal functions, Retail Estates is becoming a recognized player in terms not only 

of size, but also expertise, in the particular market niche in which it operates.

Thanks to the sustained effort of our employees and supported by an active Board of Directors, we reaped last year the fruits of 

the long-term strategy, focused on the specific niche of out-of-town retail property, which we have held fast to for 13 years now. 

The surge of interest in our activities and in our share is the result of this.

We wish also to express our thanks to our shareholders, both those who have supported us loyally for many years already as 

well as the new shareholders that joined us over the past year. It is you that provide us with financial resources and the stable 

environment we need in order to implement and continue this growth story. 

Ternat, 27 May  2011

Paul Borghgraef 

Chairman of the

Board of Directors 

Jan De Nys

Managing Director
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STRATEGY - investment in out-of-town retail property

Goal – investment in a representative portfolio of out-of-town retail property

Retail Estates nv is a niche fixed-capital real estate investment fund (sicafi/bevak) that invests in retail properties located 

on the periphery of residential areas or along access roads to urban centres. Retail Estates nv buys these properties from 

third parties or builds and markets shop premises for its own account. The outlets have built-on surface areas of between 

500m² and 3,000m². A typical retail property has an average surface area of 1,000m².

The most important long-term goal for Retail Estates nv is to assemble and manage a portfolio of out-of-town retail 

property which ensures steady, long-term growth due to choice of location and the quality of its tenants. The proposed 

growth comes both from the value of the asset and the income generated from leasing.

Management Report
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Through further upscaling of the property portfolio, Retail Estates nv also intends to offer shareholders a representative 

sample of the out-of-town retail property market, in terms both of choice of locations and widely diversified tenants.

In the short term these goals are pursued by monitoring the occupancy level of the portfolio, the rental income and the 

maintenance and management costs.

The selective purchase and construction of shops at particular locations (so-called ‘clusters’) are aimed at simplifying the 

management and boosting the value of the portfolio. Retain Estates nv has currently identified 35 clusters, in which it is 

systematically increasing its investments. These represent over 65% of its portfolio.



18 Retail Estates Management report

In past years, Retail Estates nv has concentrated on continuously strengthening the quality of its properties, partly through 

a good sector mix in its tenants’ retail activities.

Retail Estates nv rents in principle its properties in structural (i.e. shell) state, with the furnishings, fittings and maintenance 

arranged by the tenants. Retail Estates nv’s own maintenance costs are essentially limited to maintaining car parks and 

roofs, and can be planned in advance.

Tenants are for the large part well-known retail chains like Aldi, the Blokker group, Brantano, Carpetright, JBC, Heytens, 

Krëfel, O’Cool, Shoe Discount, Delhaize, Fun and AS Adventure.

As at the end of March 2011, Retail Estates nv had 448 premises in its portfolio. The retail lettable area amounted to 

419,346m², while the occupancy rate measured in rented square metres was 98.15%.

A total of 4,600m² of retail floor space has received planning permission and is under development. This will be counted 

in the calculation of the occupancy level upon provisional delivery of the buildings.

The fair value of the property portfolio of Retail Estates nv and its subsidiaries on 31 March 2011 is estimated by the 

independent property expert at EUR 505.59 million (excluding 2.5% transaction costs) and at EUR 517.77 million at 

investment value (including transaction costs). 

Retail Estates nv has invested a total of EUR 15.72 million in ‘Distri-Land’ real estate certificates. It currently holds 82.54% 

of the issued ‘Distri-Land’ real estate certificates. The issuer of these real estate certificates owns 17 retail properties with 

an investment value of EUR 21.15 million. Retail Estates nv has built up its shareholding both through a successful public 

exchange bid in December 2003 and through purchases on the stock market. Retail Estates nv views its shareholding 

in this real estate certificate as a strategic one. It records the value of these certificates as a real estate investment and 

recognizes income from this certificate as rental income. Given that it does not hold shares in nv Immobilière Distri-Land 

(the issuer of these certificates), the company is not consolidated.

Acquisition criteria

Retail Estates nv seeks to optimize its real estate portfolio in terms of profitability and potential capital gains by paying 

attention to a number of criteria which serve as guidelines when acquiring real estate:
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• Choice of location

Based on the insights that management has acquired into the profitability of its tenants, locations are selected which give 

Retail Estates nv tenants the best chances of success. The company seeks here to achieve a healthy balance between the 

supply of retail properties and demand from retailers.

• Rental level and initial profitability

Special attention is paid to rental levels in order to reconcile the profitability expectations of Retail Estates nv and its 

tenants over the long term. Experience shows that the excessive rents charged by certain developers produce a high level 

of rotation when sales do not rapidly come to the retailers' expectations.

• Geographical distribution

Retail Estates nv spreads its investments over all major shopping centres across Belgium. In practice it hardly ever invests 

in the Brussels Region due to the extremely low supply of out-of-town premises there,  preferring to concentrate its 

investments in Flanders and Wallonia and especially in sub-regions with strong purchasing power (mainly the Brussels – 

Ghent – Antwerp triangle and “green axis” of Brussels – Namur – Luxembourg).

• Development and redevelopment of property for our own account

Retail Estates nv has significant experience in the custom development of new shops for its tenants. Experience shows 

that such developments supply architecturally attractive retail premises and that a higher initial income can be reached 

than on shops offered in the investment market. The importance of redeveloping peripheral shopping clusters into larger 

groups of modern, connected retail premises is increasing by the year. In such redevelopments the lettable space is 

generally increased, premises are aligned better with tenants’ needs, the parking and road infrastructures are improved 

and shop premises are modernised.

• Diversity of tenants

Retail Estate nv seeks to have as many different retail sectors as possible represented in its list of tenants, with a 

preference for sectors known to have valuable retail outlets. In a downward moving economic cycle not all retail sectors 

share in a possible fall in turnover to the same degree. A good distribution over various sectors limits the risks attached to 

negative economic developments.
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Investing in real estate via Retail Estates nv

Retail Estates nv is a fixed-capital property investment company (sicafi/bevak). As such it is subject to a set of rules on risk 

diversification, distribution of profits and debt management stipulated by Belgian Royal Decrees. Providing the company 

respects these rules, it enjoys an exceptional tax regime which essentially means that it pays virtually no corporate tax on 

its earnings. The result available for distribution is therefore higher than for real estate companies that do not have this 

status. Retail Estates nv, as a fixed-capital property investment company, holds additional trump cards, such as a strongly 

diversified property portfolio and the fact of being established for an indefinite period.

Investments in out-of-town retail properties have in the course of the years gained in attractiveness, owning to a stricter 

permit policy by government, a heavily limited supply of high quality shop locations and the constantly high level of 

demand. The internationalization of the retail property market and the shift from city centre to out-of-town shopping have 

positively influenced the market for out-of-town retail property. Combined with the growing institutionalization of the 

investment market in city peripheral retail property, this evolution not only supports the rise in rents, but also the increase 

in the fair value of this property in the longer term.

With the Retail Estates nv share, each shareholder has an investment instrument which can be traded freely and can be 

cashed in at any time via Euronext. Retail Estates nv shares are held entirely by the public and of a number of institutional 

investors. On 31 March 2011, 49.41% of the stock was held by institutional shareholders who, in accordance with the 

transparency legislation and Retail Estates nv’s articles of association, have reported that they have stakes exceeding the 

threshold of 3% under the articles of association and the 5% stipulated by law.

Through the Euronext price listings, which are published in the daily press and on the Euronext website, shareholders can 

follow the development of their investments at all times. The company also has a website (www.retailestates.com) with 

relevant shareholder information.

The net asset value of the share forms an important indication of its value. The net asset value (NAV) is calculated by 

dividing the consolidated shareholders’ equity by the number of shares. The NAV (fair value), including the dividend of EUR 

2.70, amounted to EUR 45.36 on 31 March 2011. This is an increase of 10.45% (EUR 41.07 at 31 March 2010). At 31 March 

2011 the stock market price of the share stood at EUR 49.36, representing a premium of 8.82% over NAV. The rise in net 

asset value compared with the previous year is due to the reduction in the negative variation in the value of the financial 

instruments with which interest risks on floating interest rate loans are hedged by fixed interest rates (see further explanation 

on page 44), to the positive variations in the value of the investment properties and to the result of the financial year.
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Significant events of the past financial year (01.04.2010 – 31.03.2011)

1. Investments (EUR 65.55 million)

On 1 April 2010 a Dutch private investor acquired control over four property investment companies. These together 

own 9 retail and 1 SME premises. These real estate companies had been purchased shortly before by the seller from 

the Limburg real estate promoter Group GL in Houthalen. Several of the properties acquired in this way join existing 

clusters of retail premises in which Retail Estates nv has previously invested. For example, two further retail premises were 

acquired at the Hasseltweg site in Genk, and at Tienne de l'Europe in Dinant one store was added to an existing retail 

park. These represent an investment value of EUR 11.49 million and a fair value of EUR 11.21 million.

On 5 May 2010 Retail Estates nv acquired control of real estate company Pillar Roeselare nv, which owns a retail estate at 

Roeselare along the main Brugsesteenweg shopping axis. These large-scale retail properties (7,174m²) are currently let to 

Hubo, New Vanden Borre and Seats & Sofa's. Retail Estates nv already owns four retail properties at this location. At 31 

March 2011, these represent an investment value of EUR 10.25 million and a fair value of EUR 10.00 million.

On 21 June 2010 Retail Estates nv acquired control of Caisse de Leasing nv, which owns a real estate portfolio consisting 

of a retail estate with 14 retail units with an investment value of EUR 6.35 million and a fair value of EUR 6.19 million at 31 

March 2011. 

On 30 November 2010 the company acquired control of two real estate companies, Depatri nv and Asverco nv, owning 

9 shops, 2 apartments, 1 dwelling and 1 SME property at various locations in the Flemish Region. The buildings (8,263m²) 

are fully let. At 31 March 2011, these represent an investment value of EUR 7.71 million and a fair value of EUR 7.55 

million. 

Additionally, adjacent buildings totalling EUR 0.92 million were acquired in Erembodegem and Wavre, with a view to 

extending Retail Estates NV's existing properties at these locations.

On 23 December 2010 a shop was acquired in Eeklo looking onto the "Krüger" shopping park that already belongs to 

Retail Estates nv. The property is leased to Shoeby (clothing). The investment value is EUR 0.80 million and the fair value 

EUR 0.78 million. 
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On 31 December 2010 Retail Estates acquired control of Coeman Invest nv, which owns a large store property in 

Poperinge (already let to Hubo), representing an investment value of EUR 2.65 million and a fair value of EUR 2.58 million. 

The purchases and own developments in the 2010-2011 financial year resulted in a EUR 65.55 million increase in the 

portfolio. Total rental income rose by EUR 2.35 million in the 2010-2011 financial year as a result of these investments. If 

these acquisitions had taken place on 1 April 2010, rental income would have risen by EUR 2.74 million.

2. Disposals (EUR 8.64 million)

During the past quarter, 13 retail units were sold to private investors for total sales proceeds of EUR 8.64 million. Overall, 

the price of the sold investment properties equals the investment value of the premises at the time of sale.

The properties sold are located at Ghent (Lidl 816m² and Max Markt 450m²), Malmédy (JSM Décor 1000m²),  

Sint-Truiden (Devresse 950m²), Hannut (Sport 85,582m²), Diest (O’Cool 900m² and Le Roi du Matelas 850m²), Roeselare 

(DHL 1,734m²), Grace-Hollogne (Hydroliege 2,686m²), Barchon (Hydroliege 2,440m²), Rocourt (Maxi Zoo 1000m²), 

Begijnendijk (Aldi and Budgetslager 1,122m²) and Flémalle (750m²- vacant).

Retail Estates nv’s selling activity has taken advantage of strong demand from individual investors for out-of-town retail 

properties. Globally, the sales proceeds are in line with the investment values as assessed by the real estate expert. These 

transactions confirm the liquidity in this segment of the real estate market and the cautious valuation of the real estate 

portfolio. Retail Estates nv divested a certain number of retail properties at locations outside the 35 cluster locations 

on which it wishes to focus two-thirds of its future investments. The funds released in this way were reinvested in new 

investments.  

3. Investment in real estate certificates

‘Distri-Land’ real estate certificate

1,112 additional certificates were purchased on Euronext during the past financial year. Retail Estates nv held on 31 March 

2011 51,258 out of a total of 62,100 certificates issued by Immobilière Distri-Land nv (82.54 %).  The investment in these 

real estate certificates is valued at EUR 15.72 million on 31 March 2011. 
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4. Investments in portfolio optimization

During the financial year, investments were made in four retail properties in Ghent (St-Denis-Westrem - FUN) Ninove 

(Firelle) and Schoten (Baby 2000, Torfs and Zeb), with the shopping areas expanded and a number of transformations 

to make the properties more functional and more contemporary. In the process, premises with ancillary functions like 

cafeterias or offices were demolished or converted into retail space.

5. Investments in project development

On 30 December 2010, Retail Estates acquired control of three property companies that control the development of two 

retail parks for which permits have still to be obtained. At 31 March 2011 the investment in these companies amounted 

to EUR 8.39 million. This investment is being undertaken subject to the granting of urban planning permission and socio-

economic authorisation for building a retail estate. If, contrary to expectations, these permits cannot be obtained, Retail 

Estates nv has the option, under the terms of the conditions precedent clause, of stepping out of these investments.

6. Management of the property portfolio

6.1. Occupancy rate

The occupancy rate of the Retail Estates nv portfolio is 98.15%. The vacancies relate to 6,104m² of shopping premises 

and 1,673m² of SME properties and residential space.

Of course, the occupancy rate has to be viewed as a snapshot at a particular point in time, concealing a series of changes 

occurring over the previous financial year. It does not offer any guarantee for the future, given that the imperative 

legislation governing commercial leases provides for a triennial termination option for all tenants.

6.2. Rental income

During the past financial year just 3 smaller tenants filed for bankruptcy. Retail Estates nv has come off almost unscathed 

(with a claim of EUR 0,065 on the bankruptcy estate). 

At the end of the financial year the outstanding receivables for which no provision had been set up amounted to EUR 

0.28 million. Given the guarantees received – both rental guarantees and the requested bank guarantees – the credit risk 

on the trade receivables is limited to around 30% EUR 0,084 million of the outstanding amount at 31 March 2011.
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6.3. Claims

No properties suffered serious fire damage.

7. Capital increase with application of the authorized capital

On 5 May 2010 the board of directors undertook, out of authorised capital, a capital increase of EUR 6.25 million  

(EUR 3.29 million of capital and EUR 2.96 million of issue premiums), following the contribution of all shares of Pillar 

Roeselare nv. In this transaction, 146,135 new shares were issued at EUR 42.77 per share. This issue price was determined 

based on the closing share price on NYSE-Euronext during the 30 days leading up to the issue. These shares are fully 

dividend-entitled from 1 April 2010.

On 21 June 2010, the Board of Directors undertook, by way of application of the authorized capital, a capital increase of 

EUR 5.06 million (EUR 2.66 million share capital and EUR 2.40 share premium), following the contribution of all shares of 

NV Caisse de Leasing. In this transaction, 118,293 1 new shares were issued at EUR 42.77 euro per share. This issue price 

was determined based on the closing share price on NYSE-Euronext during the 30 days leading up to the issue. These 

shares are fully dividend-entitled from 1 April 2010.

On 30 November 2010, in the framework of a capital increase, Retail Estates gained exclusive control over Depatri nv 

and Asverco nv, two property companies owning nine retail premises. This contribution was remunerated by the issue 

of new shares at an issue price of EUR 7.26 per share. The capital increase was undertaken on the basis of an issue price 

based on the average closing price of the last 30 trading days prior to issue date. This closing price was EUR 45.90 per 

share. The 158,108 new shares issued are profit and dividend-entitled in respect of the 2010-2011 financial year pro rata 

for the period from 1 October 2010 to 31 March 2011.

The above-mentioned capital increases had the effect of increasing capital to EUR 113,889,542.70, represented by 

5,061,633 shares.

1 Under Articles 17 and 18§2 of the Act of 16 June 2006, listing of such shares requires the publication of a prospectus, given that , during the 
twelve months prior to the above issue, shares were issued which, together with the aforementioned 118,293 newly issued shares, represent 
10% or more of the total shares. This prospectus was issued on 6 July 2010 and published on www.retailestates.com
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8. Merger through acquisition of subsidiaries

The extraordinary general meeting of 28 June 2010 took the following decision:

- Merger by acquisition of Eeklo Invest nv, without issuance of new shares: 

The extraordinary general meeting of 30 September 2010 took the following decision:

- Merger by acquisition of Solido nv, without issuance of new shares:

The extraordinary general meeting of 30 November 2010 took the following decisions:

- Merger by acquisition of Vagobel nv and Pillar Roeselare nv, without issuance of new shares:

The mergers of these subsidiaries simplify administration and reduce the taxable income of the subsidiaries of Retail 

Estates nv.

9. Events after the balance sheet date

9.1. Contribution in kind - capital increase

Retail Estates NV has an agreement in principle reached with the insurer Fidea for the contribution in kind of five retail 

properties, located in Genk (Winterslag) Houthalen - Hechteren, Jodoigne, Zonhoven and Kasterlee for a contribution 

value of EUR 4.29 million, corresponding to the investment value as appraised by real estate expert CBRE. The buildings 

are leased to retail chains such as Aldi, Kruidvat, Brantano and Delhaize. No debts are being taken over.

These retail properties represent an annual rental income of EUR 0.27 million. After renovation of the properties in Genk, 

Houthalen-Hechteren, Jodoigne, Zonhoven and Kasterlee, the rental value is estimated by the real estate expert at EUR 

0.34 million. Retail Estates nv will use its expertise to achieve this optimization in the next few years.

This transaction will be carried out in the second half of June 2011 and will be the subject of a separate press release.
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9.2. Changes to the Articles of Association

On 9 May 2011 an extraordinary general meeting was convened to deliberate on the amendment of a number of 

provisions of the company's Articles of Association. As the required quorum was not reached, a second extraordinary 

general meeting was convened on 27 May 2011, with the same agenda.

More specifically, the Articles of Association were brought into line with the new Royal Decree of 7 December 2010 

governing Sicafi/Bevaks.

The new consolidated text of the Articles of Association is available on the website: www.retailestates.com under 

"Investor Relations/Official Documents".

Shareholders' attention is drawn to the fact that a number of provisions come into effect only from 1 January 2012.

9.3. Partial demerger FUN SA - capital increase

On 31 March 2011 a demerger proposal was tabled for certain properties (three shops located in Mechelen and Sint-

Joris-Winge) currently owned by FUN Belgium nv to be transferred to Retail Estates nv. The target date for this partial 

demerger is 27 June 2011.

These properties represent a contribution value of EUR 12 million.

Corporate governance declaration

This declaration is given by way of application of the provisions of the Belgian Corporate Governance Code 2009 and the 

Act of 6 April 2010 amending the Companies Act. 

For certain provisions of the latter act, transitional provisions are provided, so that this information will be included in the 

annual report only from the next financial year (2011-2012) onwards. These include the incorporation of the remuneration 

report in the annual report.

Retail Estates nv applies the Code of 12 March 2009 as its reference code (below "the Code").

The Corporate Governance Charter can be found at: www.retailestates.com. On 27 May 2011 a new version, taking into 

account the latest developments, was approved by the board.
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Corporate governance code (versie 2009) – comply or explain

Retail Estates nv seeks to comply with the provisions of the Code as far as possible. There are, however,

deviations in a number of areas:

Deviations from principle 2:

Item 2.9. The Board of Directors has not yet appointed a company secretary.

Deviations from principle 3:

Item 3.5. In view of the company’s activities and particularly the fact that negotiating and closing specific contracts are 

part of day-to-day management and fall within the CEO’s powers, without the intervention of the Board of Directors being 

required in principle, the following transactions between the company and its nonexecutive directors could possibly fall 

under the conflict of interests regulation (‘significant commercial links’):

- rental agreements for premises with retail companies to which a non-executive director is connected;

There are significant commercial links with Frost Invest nv (9 stores), New Vanden Borre nv (11 stores) and Fun nv (with 

Mitiska as its main shareholder – 7 stores), of which Mr Yvan Lippens, Mr Vic Ragoen and Mr Luc Geuten are the CEO 

or a director. The premises leased by these companies, however, are usually the subject of long-term rental agreements 

that were often concluded with external promoters prior to their acquisition by Retail Estates nv. The Board of Directors 

particularly values the presence of these directors of rapidly expanding companies. Their experience of changing market 

conditions and the development potential of various locations offers considerable added value for Retail Estates nv when 

making investment decisions. The commercial lease legislation, which is mainly coercive law, provides an adequate frame 

of reference for solving day to-day problems that arise in relation to these companies as tenants.

In fact Retail Estates nv also lets a considerable number of premises to competitors of Frost Invest nv, New

Vanden Borre nv and FUN nv. 

Deviations from principle 4:

Item 4.6. The recommended 4-year mandate for directors is viewed as too short given the complexity of the

type of property in which Retail Estates nv specialises. As a result, mandates all run for 6 years.
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Deviations from principle 5:

Item 5.2. The responsibilities of the audit committee are assumed by the entire Board of Directors. No separate audit 

committee has been set up. This concords with the legal provisions concerning the functioning of an audit committee.

Shareholding structure

Based on the transparency declarations received and the information in the possession of Retail Estates nv,  the main 

shareholders are:

31/03/11 31/03/10

General public 50,59% 54,42%
KBC Groep nv 11,09% 12,10%
Federale Verzekeringen 6,03% 6,58%
Arcopar and associated undertakings 5,36% 5,96%
Stichting Administratiekantoor ‘Het Torentje’ group and Leasinvest, acting in mutual 

consultation

5,07% 5,96%

Christian Polis, Retail Estates nv acting in mutual consultation 4,94% 5,39%
Axa nv 6,10% 6,65%
Ageas nv 2,71%
Dexia nv 4,99% 0,00%
Matexi group 3,12%

100,00%

On the occasion of the private placement following the capital increase which took place on 5 May 2010, 146,135 shares 

were acquired by Dexia.

On the occasion of the capital increase of 30 November 2010, 158,108 shares were acquired by the Matexi group.

With the exception of the above-mentioned shareholders, no other shareholder has declared ownership of more than 3% 

of the issued shares of Retail Estates nv. According to the criteria applied by Euronext, Retail Estates nv has a free float of 

100%. 

Retail Estates nv is not aware of any lock-up commitment concluded by any of the above-mentioned shareholders with 

respect to all or a portion of their shareholdings. 

The transparency declarations received are available for consultation on the company website (www.retailestates.com) 

under Investor Relations/Shareholders/Shareholding structure.
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Internal control and risk management systems

In accordance with the Corporate Governance rules and the relevant legislation, Retail Estates nv has developed an 

internal control and risk management system.

Internal control is a process which aims to provide reasonable assurance regarding the following objectives:

- Effectiveness and improving the functioning of the enterprise;

- Reliability and integrity of information;

- Compliance with policies, procedures, laws and regulations.

In implementing its internal control system, Retail Estates nv has taken as its reference the COSO (Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) framework. The components of this framework and their 

application at Retail Estates nv are discussed below.

Internal control and risk management systems in general

Sound internal control and balanced risk are an inherent part of Retail Estates nv's corporate culture and are disseminated 

throughout the organization by means of:

- Corporate governance rules and the existence of a Remuneration Committee;

-  The existence of a code of conduct that deals in particular with such matters as conflicts of interest, confidentiality, 

buying and selling of shares, prevention of abuse of company property and communication;

-  A detailed human resource policy with rules for recruiting staff, periodic performance evaluation and the setting of 

annual goals;

- Monitoring of procedures and formalization of processes.

The board regularly reviews the company's exposure to risks, the financial impact of these risks and the actions to be 

undertaken to monitor these potential risks.
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Internal control and risk management systems relating to financial reporting

Control environment

The control environment, as regards financial reporting, consists of the following components:

- The accounting team is responsible for preparing and reporting financial information. 

- The controller is responsible for reviewing the financial information and preparing the consolidated figures (in consultation 

with the CFO) and for feeding back financial information to Retail Estates nv’s operational activities.

- The CFO is responsible for the final review of the consolidated financial statements and for the correct application of the 

valuation rules, and reports back on these to the CEO.

-  As part of his responsibility for the day-to-day management of the company, the CEO regularly discusses the financial 

reporting with the CFO.

- The Board has detailed quarterly question and discussion sessions with the CEO and CFO and oversees the proper 

application of the valuation rules. The chairman of the board of directors, the CEO and the CFO discuss the principal 

strategic, operational and financial issues in detail on a fortnightly basis.

Other actors also play a role in the company’s control environment: 

- As a listed company, Retail Estates nv comes under the supervision of the Financial Services and Markets Authority2 (FSMA - 

formerly the CBFA), which also undertakes a specific review of the financial information. All published financial information is 

controlled (in advance or post facto) by the FSMA.

- The real estate expert plays an important role: the entire real estate portfolio (which makes up 98% of total assets) is valued 

by two internationally recognized, independent real estate experts (Cushman & Wakefield and CBRE).

Risk Analysis

Regular management and operational meetings serve to address issues that need to be kept under observation in 

order to ensure balanced risk awareness and management: the main events of the past period and their impact on the 

accounting figures, recent and planned transactions, the evolution of key performance indicators and any operational, 

legal and tax risks.

2 Since 1 April 2011 the name was changed to Authority for Financial Services and Markets (FSMA).
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As a result of these meetings, any appropriate actions and measures will be undertaken in order to implement the policy 

of the Sicafi/Bevak. These actions aim to achieve a balanced risk policy in line with the strategic objectives and risk 

appetite as ratified by the board of directors.

Control activities

Procedures are in effect with respect to the key processes (collecting rents, repairs and maintenance, project development 

and site supervision, etc.). These procedures are evaluated on a regular basis by the management team. 

An ERP software package serves to track all aspects of the real estate business (overview of leases, rent calls, settlement 

of costs, payment monitoring, etc.). This package is linked to the accounting package.

Information and communication:

Every quarter, a financial report is drawn up, containing the analyses of the figures, key performance indicators, the 

impact of purchases and sales on budgets, cash flow positions, etc. 

Every quarter, an operational report is also drawn up with the key performance indicators relating to the real estate department.

In the first and third quarters of the year an intermediary press release is published. Every six months a more 

comprehensive half-yearly financial report is published in accordance with IFRS standards, with all relevant financial 

information published at the end of the financial year.

The limited size of the Retail Estates team contributes significantly to the smooth flow of information. The heavy 

involvement of the board of directors and its chairman promotes open communication and the proper provision of 

information to the governing body.

Monitoring

Each quarter, the financial team draws up the quarterly figures and balance sheets. These quarterly figures are always 

extensively analysed and checked. To limit the risk of errors in financial reporting, the figures are discussed with 

management and their accuracy and completeness are verified by an analysis of rental income, vacancies, technical 

costs, rental activity, the evolution of the value of the buildings, outstanding debtors etc. Comparisons with forecasts and 

budgets are discussed. Management reports comprehensively every quarter to the board of directors on the financial 

statements, with a comparison of annual figures, budget and explanations for any deviations. 

The auditor also reports to the board of directors on the main findings of his audit activities.
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Management of the company

Composition

The Board of Directors of Retail Estates nv consisted at 31 March 2011 of 9 directors: the chairman, 7 non-executive 

directors and 1 executive director, being the managing director. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Code, all directors’ 

terms of office were renewed at the 29 June 2009 Annual Meeting for new 6-year terms until the general meeting of 

2015.

Subject to approval by the FSMA, Mr Roelandt will be proposed for election as a director at the annual meeting to be 

held on 27 June 2011. His term of office will expire at the annual meeting of 2015, along with those of other directors.

Mr Roelandt is director of several companies linked to Dexia Insurance.

Of the 9 directors, 3 (Messrs. Tinant, Ragoen and Lippens) qualify as independent pursuant to Article 526ter of the 

Companies Code. These directors also meet the criteria of independence set out in Annexe A of the Code. The 

independent Directors strictly comply with the following criteria of independence:

•  not to be a salaried employee, manager, Executive Committee member, managing director, executive director or member of 

the executive personnel of Retail Estates nv or of an affiliated company, and not having occupied a similar position during the 

5 years preceding their appointment;

• not to receive or have in the past received from Retail Estates nv or a related enterprise any remuneration or significant 

financial benefit other than those associated with their mandates;

• not to be a dominant shareholder or have a shareholding of more than 10% in Retail Estates nv –either alone or jointly with 

a company controlled by the director– or be a director or member of the managerial personnel of such a shareholder or 

represent it. Directors with a shareholding of less than 10% may not subject the acts of disposal relating to their shares or 

the exercise of the rights pertaining to them to contractual stipulations or to unilateral commitments to which they have 

subscribed. Directors may not under any circumstances represent such a shareholder;

• not to have or to have had during the preceding year or to expect in future to have a significant commercial relationship with 

Real Estates nv or with a related enterprise, either directly or as a partner, shareholder, director, or as member of the senior or 

executive management of an organisation related to it in such a way;
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• not to be, and not to have been during the past 3 years, a partner or salaried employee of the present or a former Auditor of 

Retail Estates nv or a related company;

• not to be an executive member of the management body of another company in which an executive director of the company 

sits as non-executive member of the management or supervisory body;

• not to have other significant links with the executive directors of Retail Estates nv by virtue of an involvement in other 

companies or bodies;

• not to have held more than 3 terms of office as non-executive director within Retail Estates nv, with an overall limit of 12 years;

• not to be a close relative of a managerial employee, a member of the Executive Committee or a person who is covered by 

one of the situations described above. 

The composition of the Board of Directors is intended to ensure that the decisions taken are in the interests of the company. 

The composition of the Board of Directors is determined on the basis of gender diversity and diversity in general, as well as 

complementarity of skills, experience and know-how. Of particular importance is having a strong representation of directors 

who are well versed in the management of retail businesses in the type of property in which Retail Estates nv invests and/or 

experience in the financial aspects of the management of a listed company and of a sicafi/bevek in particular. It is therefore 

important for the members of the Board of Directors to be complementary in terms of knowledge and experience. To enable 

the Board of Directors to operate efficiently, the intention is to restrict the number of Board members to a maximum of 12.

The four largest reference shareholders are represented by Messrs. Borghgraef and De Peuter (for the KBC Group), Mr Tinant 

(Arco group), Mr Appelmans (Het Torentje) and Ms Lambrighs (Axa).

Only Mr Jan De Nys and Mr Tinant have declared that they hold shares in the company for their personal account. 

For a brief overview of the composition of the board of directors of Retail Estates nv, the reader is referred to the 

discussion of directors' salaries on page 38.
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Operation of the Board of Directors

The Retail Estates nv’s Board of Directors determines the company’s strategy, investments, budgets, disposals and 

acquisitions and funding.

The Board of Directors prepares the annual and interim financial statements and the annual report of the sicafi/bevak 

Retail Estates nv for the General Meeting of Shareholders. It approves merger and split reports, decides on the use of 

the authorised capital and convenes the ordinary and extraordinary general meetings of shareholders. It supervises the 

accuracy and transparency of communications to shareholders, financial analysts and the general public as communicated 

through prospectuses, annual and interim reports and press releases.

It delegates day-to-day management to the managing director who reports to it regularly on the management and the 

annual budget and who presents a quarterly financial and operational report.

The Board of Directors met three times during 2010-2011. The Remuneration Committee met twice.

The Board of Directors may validly deliberate and pass resolutions only if at least half its members are present or 

represented. Where this condition is not met, a new meeting can be convened that will validly deliberate and resolve on 

the items on the agenda of the previous meeting providing that at least two directors are present or represented. Every 

resolution of the Board is passed by an absolute majority of votes of directors present or represented, and, in the event 

of the abstention of one or more of their number, by the majority of the other directors. In the event of a tied vote, the 

director chairing the meeting has the casting vote. In exceptional cases, pursuant to Article 521 of the Companies Code, 

resolutions of the Board of Directors may be passed by unanimous written agreement of the directors, whenever the 

urgency of the matter and the interest of Retail Estates nv so require. This procedure may not be followed, however, for 

the establishment of the annual financial statements or the use of the authorised capital.

In addition to its legal mandate, the board will also take the necessary care to determine strategy and to outline 

policy lines, at all times taking account of the company’s interests. In particular, it also makes all fundamental decisions 

concerning the investments in and disposals of properties as well as their funding. Retail Estates nv has no Executive 

Committee.

A clear distinction is made between the responsibilities of the managing director (CEO) and those of the chairman of the 

Board of Directors. The chairman leads the Board of Directors and ensures that agendas of Board of Directors meetings 

are prepared and that directors receive the relevant information promptly.
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The managing director is in charge of the executive management of the company. The Board of Directors will make sure 

that sufficient powers are given to ensure that these responsibilities and duties are met.

The managing director and the chairman of the Board of Directors are jointly designated by the Board of Directors as 

being the effective leaders of the sicafi/bevak on the basis of article 38 of the Law of 20 July 2004.

Report on the Board of Directors’ activities

The Board of Directors took the following decisions, among others, during the financial year:

- Sale of EUR 8.64 million of real estate;

- Extension of the portfolio with EUR 65.55 million of real estate;

- Contribution in kind within the authorized capital by the contribution of the shares of Pillar Roeselare nv;

- Contribution in kind within the authorized capital by the contribution of the shares of Caisse de Leasing nv;

- Contribution in kind within the authorized capital by the contribution of the shares of Depatri nv and Asverco nv;

-  Merger by absorption of Eeklo Invest nv, Solido nv, Vagobel nv and Pillar Roeselare nv;

-  Proposal to elect a new non-executive director (Mr Roelandt);

-  Acquisition of control of GL Development nv, Vagobel nv, Dimmo Invest nv, Wennel Invest nv and Coeman Invest nv;

- Financing of the above acquisitions.

In order to constantly improve its pertinence to the company, the Board of Directors systematically and at regular intervals 

(at least every 3 years) evaluates its size, composition and performance and that of its Committees, and its interaction 

with executive management.

This assessment focuses on:

• the operation of the Board of Directors and its Committees;

• the effective contribution of each director through their presence at the Board of Directors and Committee meetings and 

their contribution to the discussions and the decision-making.

Various committees can be established within the Board of Directors for specific matters.

Retail Estates nv has currently set up only a remuneration and appointments committee, consisting of the 3 independent 

directors and the chairman of the Board. This committee met twice in 2010-2011, on 3 September 2010 and on 28 

January 2011. At this meeting the staff remuneration strategy was discussed and the fees paid to external service 
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providers were listed as part of the preparation of the 2010-2011 budget. No changes to the Board of Directors were 

proposed during the past financial year, other than the appointment of Mr. Roelandt. The role of the Remuneration and 

Appointments Committee consists of supporting the Board of Directors by:

• making recommendations on the composition of the Board of Directors and its Committees;

• to assist with the selection, evaluation and appointment of members of the Board of Directors;

• to assist in determining the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors.

The provisions of the Law of 17 December 2008 (BS/MB 29.12.08) have introduced the requirement for listed companies 

to set up audit committees.

Retail Estates nv, however, fulfils the exemption conditions provided for in this law, whereby the tasks assigned to the 

audit committee are undertaken by the Board of Directors as a whole. In this respect Mr Tinant as independent director 

has the necessary reporting and audit skills.

The tasks of this audit committee consist mainly of monitoring the financial reporting process, the appropriateness of the 

internal control and risk management systems, monitoring the internal audit and the statutory audit of unconsolidated 

and consolidated annual financial statements and assessing and monitoring the independence of the statutory auditor.

Representative powers

In all legal and statutory transactions concerning the disposal of property, the company will be represented by at least 2 

directors acting jointly, being in principle the Chairman of the Board Paul Borghgraef and the managing director Jan De 

Nys.

Once the new Articles of Association, as presented to the Extraordinary General Meeting of 27 May 2011 have been 

approved, the company may also be legally represented for transactions (including the concluding of a leasing contract 

with or without purchase option, or the creation of easements) that relate to a product whose value is less than the lesser 

of 1% of the consolidated assets of the company and EUR 2.5 million by the managing director.

Settlement of conflicts of interests

Pursuant to Article 523 of the Companies Code, any members of the Board of Directors who, whether directly or 

indirectly, have a financial interest which conflicts with a decision or operation involving the Board of Directors, may not 

attend the deliberations of this Board. 
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A conflict of interests has occurred that, in accordance with Article 523 of the Companies Act, qualifies as a direct or 

indirect conflict of interest of a financial nature. Meeting on 26 November 2010, the Board of Directors discussed and 

approved a transaction in respect of which Mr Luc Geuten stated that, in his capacity as one of the shareholders of 

Coeman Invest nv, he had a direct financial interest that conflicted with the interests of Retail Estates nv. 

Mr Geuten did not participate in the aforementioned meeting of the board of directors.

The minutes of the Board meeting of 26 November 2010 are given on page 80.

In this case, article 19 of the Royal Decree of 7 December 2010 relating to fixed capital property investment companies 

applies, given that, since the transaction in question relates to a sum of less than EUR 2.5 million, the provision of Article 

18 of the aforementioned RD does not apply.

Reference is also made, however, to Article 18 of the Royal Decree of 7 December 2010 where one of the persons 

referred to in this Article (director, administrator, depository or promoter of the Bevak/Sicafi, ...) acts as counterparty in an 

operation undertaken with the Bevak/Sicafi or a company controlled by it. 

Application of this article shows that no conflicts of interest have arisen.

As mentioned earlier in this annual report (page 26), a demerger proposal has been tabled for Retail Estates nv to 

acquires property owned by FUN Belgium nv via a partial demerger procedure.

Retail Estates nv wishes to draw attention to the fact that one of its directors, Mr Geuten, has an indirect financial interest 

in this transaction. This is because FUN Belgium nv is under the control of Mr Coeman and Mitiska Retail nv, itself is under 

the full control of the family holding of the Geuten family, of which Mr Geuten provides the daily management. 

Although the conflict of interest provision of Article 18 of the RD does not apply strictu sensu to Bevaks/Sicafis, as the 

present transaction involves a subscription of shares issued following a decision by the General Meeting3, Retail Estate nv 

confirms that the transaction is important for it and is within the bounds of its investment policy.

In addition, Retail Estates nv has applied Article 523 of the Companies Act, with Mr Geuten refraining from participating 

in the board vote on this item, even though this article does not formally apply to this transaction, given that the decision 

power lies here with the general meeting and not the board.

Day-to-day management – executive management

The company is managed by a team of 14 employees under the leadership of the managing director (CEO)  

Mr Jan De Nys.

3  Article 19.3 §2 of the Royal Decree governing fixed capital real estate investment funds (Bevaks/Sicafis)
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Remuneration of the directors

The Act of 6 April 2010 provides the legal obligation to draw up a remuneration report, as from the 2011 financial year.

The Code already recommended promoting as much transparency in this area as possible.

The annual report covering the 2011-2012 period will contain the remuneration report as intended by the Act of 6.4.2010.

Non-executive directors receive only a fixed fee, half of which is independent of their presence (i.e. their remuneration 

consists 50% of a fixed amount and 50% of an attendance fee). They receive no performance-related remuneration, 

such as bonuses or stock-related long-term incentive programmes and no benefits in kind or retirement savings-related 

benefits.

Director

Paul Borghgraef (°1954): Chairman of the Board of Directors, Member of the Renumeration Committee

Office address: Rozenlaan 24 – 2970 Schilde

End of mandate: 2015

Remuneration 2010-20114: EUR 50,000

Most important other positions:  Director KBC Group nv and Centea nv, Whitewood REIM NV

Committees: Chairman of the Remuneration and Appointments Committee

Attendance5: (3/2)

Executive Director

Jan De Nys (°1959): Chief Executive Officer (CEO – Managing Director)

Office address:  Retail Estates nv - Industrielaan 6 - 1740 Ternat

End of mandate: 2015

Remuneration 2010-20114: The cost of the CEO’s remuneration packet amounted in the 2010-2011 financial year to EUR 

230,000, consisting of a fixed portion of EUR 190,000 and a variable portion of EUR 30,000, paid in 2010 for performance 

in the previous financial year, and EUR 10,000 of costs of company car and mobile phone.

Most important other positions: Director of Paestum nv/Orelio nv (Maes Construction and Property Group), Chairman 

Private Privak BEM II (set up under the aegis of the Flemish Building Federation).

Committees: -

Attendance5: (3/-)

4 Fixed remuneration on an annual basis
5 Attendance in 2010-2011 (Board of Directors/Remuneration Committee
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Non-executive directors

Jean-Louis Appelmans (°1953): Director

Office address: Leasinvest Real Estate Comm.V.A. – Schermersstraat 42 – 2000 Antwerp

End of mandate: 2015

Remuneration 2010-20114: EUR 9,000

Most important other positions: Managing Director of Leasinvest Real Estate Comm.V.A., Leasinvest Immo Lux sa

Committees: -

Attendance5: (2/1)

Hubert De Peuter (°1959): Director

Office address: KBC Real Estate nv – Havenlaan 16 – 1080 Brussels

End of mandate: 2015

Remuneration 2010-20114: EUR 10,500

Committees: -

Attendance5: (3/-)

Luc Geuten (°1943): Director

Office address: Mitiska nv – Pontbeekstraat 2 – 1702 Groot-Bijgaarden

End of mandate: 2015

Remuneration 2010-20114 : EUR 10,500

Most important other positions: Managing Director Mitiska nv

Committees: -

Attendance5: (3/-)

Yvan Lippens (°1960): Independent Director, Member of the Renumeration Committee

Office address: Frost Invest nv– Baarleveldestraat 8 - 9031 Drongen

End of mandate: 2015

Remuneration 2010-20114: EUR 10,500

Most important other positions: Managing Director Frost Invest nv (O’Cool)

Committees: Member of the Remuneration and Appointments Committee

Attendance5: (2/2)

4 Fixed remuneration on an annual basis

5 Attendance in 2010-2011 (Board of Directors/Remuneration Committee
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Victor Ragoen (°1955): Independent Director, Member of the Renumeration Committee

Office address: New Vanden Borre nv – Huysmanslaan 107 – 1651 Lot

End of mandate: 2015

Remuneration 2010-20114: EUR 9,000

Most important other positions: Managing Director New Vanden Borre nv

Committees: Member of the Remuneration and Appointments Committee

Attendance5: (1/2)

Marc Tinant (°1954): Independent Director, Member of the Renumeration Committee

Office address: Arcofin – Urbain Britsierslaan 5 - 1030 Brussels

End of mandate: 2015

Remuneration 2010-20114: EUR 12,000

Most important other positions: Director and member of Group Management Committee of Arco, member of the Board 

of Directors and the Audit committee of Dexia sa

Committees: Member of the Renumeration Committee

Attendance5: (3/2)

Sophie Lambrighs (°1971): Director

Office address: Axa Belgium nv- Vorstlaan 25- 1170 Brussels

End of mandate: 2015

Remuneration 2010-20114: EUR 10,500

Most important other positions: Director of Parc d’Alliance and of Blauwe Toren.

Committees: -

Attendance5: (3/-)

Only Mr Jan De Nys and Mr Tinant have declared that they hold shares in the company for their personal account.

4 Fixed remuneration on an annual basis

5 Attendance in 2010-2011 (Board of Directors/Remuneration Committee
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Other parties involved

Statutory of the accounts

An Auditor appointed by the General Meeting of Shareholders must:

• certify the annual accounts and review the half-yearly accounts, as for any limited liability company;

• prepare special reports at the request of the Banking, Finance and Insurance Commission, given that Retail Estates is, as a 

REIT, a listed company for collective investment.

The Statutory Auditor is Deloitte Bedrijfsrevisoren, represented by Mr Rik Neckebroeck, certified by the FSMA, having its 

registered office at 1831 Diegem, Berkenlaan 8B. At the 29 June 2009 Annual Meeting the auditor was reappointed for a 

3-year period.

The Auditor’s fixed remuneration for reviewing and certifying Retail Estates nv’s statutory and consolidated financial 

statements amounted to EUR 0.065 million excluding VAT.

The remuneration of Deloitte, Bedrijfsrevisoren for certifying the statutory accounts of Retail Estates nv’s subsidiaries, as 

well as for the tasks assigned to the Statutory Auditor by law (reports on the occasion of mergers, for example), amounted 

to EUR 0.12 million (excluding VAT). The fees of Deloitte relating to studies and assistance, notably on taxation matters 

and due diligence assignments, amounted to EUR 0.017 million, excluding VAT, for the financial year. These assignments 

relate mainly to the verification of the economic and financial data in relation to acquisition files as referred to in Article 

133 § 7 of the Companies Code.

Real estate expert

In accordance with the Belgian Royal Decree of 7 December 2010, Retail Estates nv calls on experts for regular valuations 

of its assets, each time it issues shares, lists securities on the stock market or purchases unlisted shares, and when it buys 

or sells properties. These valuations are necessary to determine the inventory value and to prepare the annual accounts. 

The valuation assignments are entrusted to Cushman & Wakefield (Kunstlaan 58, box 7, 1000 Brussels), represented by 

Mr Kris Peetermans and to CB Richard Ellis (Avenue Lloyd George 7, 1000 Brussels), represented by Mr Peter de Groot.
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During the past financial year, a fee of EUR 0.29 million incl. VAT was payable to Cushman & Wakefield for the regular 

valuations of a portion of the properties in the real estate portfolio and the initial valuations on purchases of real estate. 

Fees of EUR 0.19 million incl. VAT were paid to CB Richard Ellis for the regular valuation of the remainder of the real 

estate portfolio and initial valuations on purchases of real estate.

The property of Immobilière Distri-Land nv is valued on the basis of a joint instruction from Retail Estates nv and 

Immobilière Distri-Land nv, with the results published by the latter. The costs are shared 50/50 between Retail Estates nv 

and Immobilière Distri-Land nv.

Acquisition & sale of Retail Estates nv shares – insider trading

In accordance with the principles and values of the company, Retail Estates nv has inserted in its Code of Conduct a 

number of rules (Dealing Code) to be followed by directors and employees wishing to trade in financial instruments 

issued by Retail Estates nv.

With respect to the implementation of the Belgian Corporate Governance Code within Retail Estates nv, the rules of the 

Code of Conduct have been reviewed in order to bring them into line with the Royal Decree of 05.03.2006 relating to 

insider trading, the fair presentation of investment recommendations and indication of conflicts of interest.

Information based on Article 34 of the Royal Decree of 14 november 2007 
concerning the obligations of issuers of financial instruments authorised to 
trade on an official market

Capital Structure (at 31 March 2011)

The share capital stands at EUR 113,889,542.70 and is divided into 5,061,663 fully paid-up shares, each representing 

an equal share. There is only one category of shares. There is no legal or statutory limitation of the voting rights or 

transferability of the shares.

Share option plan

Retail Estates nv has no share option plan.
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Authorised capital

The Extraordinary General Meeting of 27 May 2011 expressly authorised the Board of Directors to increase the share 

capital in one or more instalments up to a maximum amount of EUR 113,889,542.70 on the dates and according to 

the procedures to be defined by the Board of Directors, in accordance with Article 603 of the Companies Code. This 

authorisation was granted for 5 years, and has been filed with the Clerk’s Office of the Brussels Trade Court.

Repurchase of shares

The company does not own any of its own shares. The Extraordinary General Meeting of 27 May 2011 has amended the 

Articles of Association so as to authorise the Board of Directors to acquire shares in Retail Estates nv under a number of 

special conditions listed in the articles of association.

Decision-making bodies

The rules which apply to the appointment or replacement of members of the Board of Directors and to any amendment 

of the articles of association of Retail Estates nv are those set out in the applicable legislation (especially the Companies 

Code and the Royal Decree of 7 December 2010) and the articles of association of Retail Estates nv. The articles of 

association of Retail Estates nv do not deviate from the above-mentioned legal provisions.

Contractual provisions

The conditions under which the financial institutions have provided Retail Estates nv with financing require to retain the 

status of a real estate investment trust (sicafi/bevak) and the general conditions under which this financing was granted 

give the banks the option to demand early repayment in the event of change of control. In addition, a covenant has been 

written into the credit agreements with a number of financial institutions whereby Retail Estates nv commits to maintain a 

maximum level of debt of 60% (lower than the legal ceiling of 65%).

Retail Estates nv Articles of Association

Retail Estate nv’s Articles of Association last revised at the Extraordinary General Meeting of 27 May 2011.
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Comments on the consolidated financial statements for the 2010-2011 
financial year

Balance sheet

Investment properties (including project developments) have increased from EUR 448.33 million to EUR 505.59 million. 

This is explained primarily by the extension of the portfolio by EUR 56.34 million and the sales of properties worth EUR 

7.19 million. Assets held for sale have fallen from EUR 1.27 million to EUR 10.78 million, being the net effect of sales of 

EUR 11.13 million and a transfer of EUR 1.63 million from investment properties.  Recorded under assets held for sale at 

the end of each quarter are those assets for which a sales agreement has been signed but the final deed of sale has not 

yet been enacted.

Current assets amount to EUR 15.30 million, being EUR 10.77 million of assets held for sale, EUR 0.68 million of trade 

receivables, EUR 2.48 million of tax receivables and other current assets, EUR 1.15 million of cash and cash equivalents 

and EUR 0.20 million of deferred charges and accrued income.

The shareholders' equity amounts to EUR 229.61 million. Company capital of EUR 113.89 million is  up EUR 9.51 million 

compared with last year as a result of the various capital increases mentioned above. After deducting the costs of the 

capital increases the capital is carried in the accounts at EUR 112.99 million. 422,536 new shares were created. For the 

same reasons the share premiums have increased from EUR 24.36 million to EUR 33.42 million. Reserves of EUR 77.10 

million consist essentially of unrealised capital gains from the valuation of the property portfolio at fair value. The result 

carried forward amounted at 31 March 2011 to EUR 27.65 million. Shareholders’ equity was reduced by the impact on 

fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs on the hypothetic disposal of investment properties (EUR – 12.45 

million) and by variations in the fair value of financial assts and liabilities (EUR – 9.10 million). The group uses financial 

derivatives (interest rate swaps) to hedge against interest rate risks deriving from operational, financial and investment 

activities. Financial derivatives are initially recognised at cost and are revalued to fair value at subsequent reporting dates. 

The negative valuation of the financial instruments has no impact on the net result of Retail Estates nv. The sicafi/bevak 

classifies the interest swaps as cash flow hedging, on the basis that these are effective hedging, that is that the amounts 

and maturity match those of the underlying loan agreements. Cash flow accounting is therefore applied to these swaps, 

based on which the valuation changes in these swaps are recognised directly in equity and are not taken through the 

income statement. The negative value of these instruments is due to the sharp fall in short-term interest rates which has 

continued since the end of 2008 under the impetus of the US and European central banks. With the rise in short term 

interest rates during the past financial year the negative variations in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities fell 

from EUR 16.22 million to EUR 9.10 million.
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Non-current liabilities amount to EUR 273.96 million. EUR 261.77 million of this amount consists of non-current financial 

debts with an average term of 4.8 years. The remaining non-current liabilities relate to the financial instruments.

Current liabilities amount to EUR 18.71 million, of which EUR 8.91 million of trade payables and other current debts. 

These include trade debts of EUR 0.26 million, an estimated EUR 6.34 million of exit tax and invoices still to be received 

of EUR 1.89 million. Current financial debts amount to EUR 7.18 million.

At 31 March 2011 the average interest rate was 4.97%.

Income statement

Net rental income has risen by EUR 3.35 million, explained primarily by the acquisition of additional properties during 

the 2010-2011 financial year (+ EUR 2.36 million) and the acquisition of properties in the previous financial year, which 

delivered a full year’s rental income for the first time (+ EUR 2.65 million). The sale of properties produced a EUR 0.38 

million fall in rental income. 

There is also the impact of the sale of properties during the previous financial year (EUR -1.91 million).

Property charges amount to EUR 2.20 million. The EUR 0.094 million increase is explained mainly by a EUR 0.055 million 

increase in technical costs, a EUR 0.11 million rise in commercial costs and a EUR 0.08 million fall in property management 

costs. The technical costs are for maintaining roofs and parking lots, and have risen with the extension of the portfolio. 

Management costs have risen owing to the increase in operating costs, in turn due to the extension of the real estate 

team attendant on the extension of the portfolio. Management costs have increased with the rise in communication and 

advertising costs and higher personnel costs.

Corporate operating costs amount to EUR 2.07 million, an increase of EUR 0.14 million on 2009-2010, due mainly to 

higher operating costs with the increased deal flow. 

The result on disposal of investment properties amounts to EUR 0.005 million. This small profit is the result of the sale 

of properties for EUR 8.64 million. We refer the reader to item 2 ‘Disposals’ in this section for further details.
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The positive variation in the fair value of real estate investments amounts to EUR 10.40 million and is due primarily to 

indexation, renovation work and the tightening of yields in a number of top locations.

The financial result is EUR -12.62 million compared with EUR -12.10 million the year before. Interest costs are higher than 

in 2009-2010 owing to additional loans taken up to finance the further expansion of the portfolio.

The net current result (i.e. the net result excluding the property result) is EUR 16.29 million compared with EUR 13.87 

million in 2009-2010.

Prospects 2011/2012

Barring a major change in the general economic situation, Retail Estates nv will continue its growth strategy and expand 

its portfolio. This assumes that capital will grow to match.

Barring a sudden and accelerated fall in consumer expenditure, which would burden our lessees with profitability problems, 

and with a limited but positive evolution of rental prices via indexation and rent revisions, it is expected that Retail Estates nv 

will be able to achieve in the 2011-2012 financial year a net current result per share comparable with the net current result 

per share achieved in the 2010-2011 financial year. The low pay-out ratio makes it possible, also in these circumstances, to 

enable the dividend to grow at least in line with inflation. Retail Estates nv is aiming at a dividend of EUR 2.80 gross for the 

2011-2012 financial year. This would be 3.70% higher than the proposed dividend for 2010-2011.
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Data in accordance with EPRA reference system6

6 These data are not compulsory according to the Sicafi regulation and are not subject to verification by public authorities. The auditor verified 
whether the “EPRA Earnings”, “EPRA NAV” and “EPRA NNNAV” ratios are calculated according to the definitions included in the “EPRA Best 
Practices Recommendations” 2010 and if the financial data used in the calculation of these ratios comply with the accounting data included in 
the audited consolidated financial statements.

EPRA Key Performance Indicators

Definitions €/1000 € per share

EPRA Earnings Current result from adjusted core operational activities 16 292 3.31
EPRA NAV Net Asset Value (NAV) adjusted to take account of the fair value of the property 

investments and excluding certain elements not expected to crystallise in a 

long-term investment property business model.

238 750 47.17

EPRA NNNAV EPRA NAV adapted to take account of the fair value of (i) the financial 

instruments, (ii) debts and (iii) deferred taxes.

229 654 45.37

EPRA Net Initial 

Yield (NIY)

Annualised gross rental incomes based on current rents ('passing rents') at 

balance sheet closing dates, excluding property costs, divided by the market 

value of the portfolio, plus estimated transfer taxes

7.00%

EPRA Vacancy Estimated market rental value (ERV) of vacant surfaces divided by the ERV of 

the portfolio as a whole

0.81%
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EPRA Earnings (€ ‘000)

IFRS Net Result (attributable to the shareholders of the parent company) 26 692
Adjustments to calculate EPRA Earnings
Excluding: 10 400
   I Variations in the fair value of investment properties (IAS 40) 10 395
   II Result on disposal of investment properties 5
   VI Variations in the fair value of financial instruments (IAS 39)  -
   X Adaptations to minority interests  -
EPRA Earnings (attributable to the shareholders of the parent company (€ ‘000) 16 292
EPRA Earnings (€/share) (attribuable to the shareholders of the parent company) 3.31

EPRA Net Asset Value

Net Asset Value (attributable to the shareholders of the parent company) according to the financial 

statements

229 607

Net Assets Value (€/share) (attributable to the shareholders of the parent company) 45.36
Effect of exercise of options, convertibles and other equity interests
Diluted net asset value after effect of exercise of options, convertibles and other equity interests 229 607
Excluding:
   I Fair value of the financial instruments -9 096
EPRA NAV (attributable to the shareholders of the parent company) 238 703
EPRA NAV (€/share) (attributable to the shareholders of the parent company) 47.16
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EPRA Triple Net Asset Value (attributable to the shareholders of the parent company) (€ ‘000)

EPRA NAV (attributable to the shareholders of the parent company) 238 703
Including
   I Fair value of the financial instruments -9 096
EPRA Triple Net Asset Value (group share) 229 607
EPRA NNNAV (€/share) (group share) 45.36

EPRA Net Initial Yield 

Investment properties (excluding assets held for sale) fair value 505 588
Transfer taxes 12 179
Investment prperties - investment value 517 767
Project developments -12 919
Gross up completed property portfolio valuation 504 848
Annualised gross rental income 35 981
Property costs -352

-34
-240

Annualised net rental income 35 355
EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) 7.00
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EPRA vacancy rate

Estimated rental value of vacant surfaces 291
Estimated rental value of total portfolio 35 981
EPRA vacancy rate 0.81%

Evolution of EPRA Like-for-like rental income

2010/2011

Gross rental 

incomes at 

constant scope

Acquisitions Disposals Prior period 

adjustments

Gross rental 

income 

2010/2011
Rental income 29 738 2 356 -374 2 540 34 260

2009/2010

Gross rental 

incomes at 

constant scope

Acquisitions Disposals Gross rental 

income 

2009/2010
Rental income 28 803 3 924 -1 910 30 817
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Appropriation of the profit

The Board of Directors proposes to allocate the profit for the year, as shown in the statutory financial statements, as 

follows:

The Board of Directors’ proposal to the General Meeting of shareholders concerning the appropriation of the result for 

the financial year closing on 31 March 2011 is a dividend of EUR 13.45 million be paid out as a gross dividend (before 

withholding tax). If this proposal is accepted, a gross dividend of EUR 2.70 per share will therefore be paid out, producing 

a net dividend after withholding tax of EUR 2.295.

The dividends are payable from 5 July 2011 on presentation of coupon number 16. The proposed dividend is in 

accordance with Article 27 of the Belgian Royal Decree on REITS of 7 december 2010. The pay-out ratio is 80.57 %.

Miscellaneous items

1. Research and development

The company has not undertaken any activities or incurred any expenditure in the area of research and development.

2. Branch offices

The company has no branch offices.

EUR

Result of the year 24 208 000
Transfer of result on portfolio and participating interests to available reserves (portfolio result) -10 330 000
Profit to be appropriated for the financial year: 13 878 000
Profit carried forward from the previous financial year (IFrs): 15 776 000
Increase in profit carried forward due to fusion by absorption of: -2 917 000
Payment of dividend on 31 March 2011 -13 451 000
Result to be carried forward 13 286 000
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1A. CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 

INCOME STATEMENT (in 000 €) Notes 31.03.11 31.03.10

Rental income 1 34 261 30 817
Rental related expenses 2 -416 -317

Net rental income 33 845 30 500

Recovery of property expenses
Recovery of charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let 
properties

3 3 015 3 187

Charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let properties 4 -3 352 -3 463

Other rental related income and expenses 5 -39 -22

Property result 33 469 30 202

Technical costs 6 -1 036 -981
Commercial costs 7 -99 -101
Charges and taxes on unlet properties 8 -40 -81
Property management costs 9 -1 018 -905
Other property charges 10 -11 -42

Property charges -2 204 -2 110

Operating property result 31 266 28 092

Corporate operating costs 11 -2 067 -1 930
Other current operating income and expenses

Operating result before result on the portfolio 29 199 26 162

Result on disposals of investment property 12 5 -305
Result on sales of other non financial assets
Changes in fair value of investment property 13 10 395 1 760

Operating result 39 599 27 617

Financial income 14 528 237
Interest charges 15 -13 071 -12 234
Other financial charges 16 -80 -96

Financial result -12 623 -12 093

Result before taxes 26 975 15 524

Taxes 17 -283 -215
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1B. COMPONENTS OF THE TOTAL RESULT

INCOME STATEMENT (in 000 €) Notes 31.03.11 31.03.10

Net Result 26 692 15 309

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 26 692 15 328

Note:
Net current result (part of Group) 16 292 13 874
Result on portfolio 10 400 1 454

EARNINGS PER SHARE Notes 31.03.11 31.03.10

Number of ordinary shares 18 5 061 663 4 639 127

Weighted average number of shares 18 4 915 380 4 213 191
Net profit per ordinary share (in €) 20 5.43 3.63
Diluted net profit per share (in €) 20 5.43 3.63
Distributable result per share (in €) 20 3.30 3.25
Net current result per share1 (in €) 3.31 3.29

Components of the total result (Statement of other comprehensive income) 
in 000 €

31.03.11 31.03.10

Net Result 26 692 15 309
Other elements of the total result
Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs resulting from the 
hypothetical disposal of investment properties

-1 270 -1 374

Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities 7 122 -2 398

TOTAL RESULT 32 544 11 537

1 The net current result per share is calculated from the weighted average number of shares, counted from the time of issue (which does not necessarily coincide 
with first dividend entitlement date). Calculated on the number of dividend-entitled shares, net current result per share amounts to EUR 3.27 per share as against 
EUR 3.13 per share at 31 March 2010.
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2. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS (in 000 €) Notes 31.03.11 31.03.10

Non-current assets 506 981 449 091
Goodwill
Intangible assets 21 74 112
Investment properties 22 505 588 448 326
Other tangible fixed assets 21 264 295
Non-current financial assets 23 1 033 293
Trade receivables and other non-current assets 24 22 65

Current assets 15 296 4 150
Assets held for sale 25 10 778 1 274
Trade receivables 26 682 717
Tax receivables and other current assets 27 2 482 1 321
Cash and cash equivalents 28 1 150 642
Deferred charges and accrued income 29 205 195

TOTAL ASSETS 522 278 453 241

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (in 000 €) Notes 31.03.11 31.03.10

Shareholders’ equity 229 607 191 040

Shareholders’ equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent 

company

229 607 190 506

Capital 30 112 989 103 851
Share premium 31 33 418 24 358
Reserves 32 77 100 66 673
Result 27 646 23 021
Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs resulting 
from the hypothetical disposal of investment properties

33 -12 449 -11 179

Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities 34 -9 096 -16 218
Minority interests 35 534

Liabilities 292 671 262 201

Non-current liabilites 273 958 248 536
Provision
Non-current financial debts 40 261 768 231 643
  Credit institutions 261 768 231 643
  Financial lease 0

Other non-current liabilities 36 12 189 16 892
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (in 000 €) Notes 31.03.11 31.03.10

Current liabilities 18 713 13 666
Current financial debts 40 7 177 5 879
  Credit institutions 7 177 5 798
  Financial lease 80
Trade debts and other current debts 37 8 914 5 630
Other current liabilities 38 361 196
Accrued charges and deferred income 39 2 260 1 961

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 522 278 453 241

Debt ratio 31.03.11 31.03.10

Debt ratio1 53.38% 53.77%

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (in €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Net asset value per share (fair value) (2) 45.36 41.07
Net asset value per share (investment value) (3) 47.82 43.47

Net asset value per share (fair value) (ex dividend) (2) 42.66 38.45
Net asset value per share (investment value) (ex dividend) (3) 45.12 40.85

(1) The debt ratio is calculated as the liabilities excluding provisions,accrued charges and deferred income and the change in the fair value of the coverage 
instruments, divided by the total assets (excluding coverage instruments).

(2) The net assets per share (fair value) is calculated as follows: shareholders’ equity divided by the number of shares

(3) The net assets per share (investment value) is calculated as follows: shareholders’ equity excluding the impact on the fair value of estimated transaction 
duties and costs resulting from the hypothetical disposal of investment properties divided by the number of shares.
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3. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share 

capital 

Ordinary 

shares

Share 

premium

Reserves

Result

Impact on fair value of  

estimated transaction 

duties and costs resulting 

from the hypothetical 

disposal of investment 

properties 

Changes in 

fair value 

of financial 

assets and 

liabilities

Minority 

interests

Total share-

holders’ 

equity

(in 000 €)

legal

available for 

distribution 

(result on 

portfolio)

available for 

distribution 

(others)

Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2009 (IFRS) 86 523 10 045 295 65 129 1 023 19 874 -10 810 -13 820 158 259
Total result 2009-2010 15 309 -1 374 -2 398 11 537
Transfer of the result on the portfolio to the reserves not available for distribution 1 760 -1 760
Dividends of financial year 2008-2009 -9 767 -9 767
Capital increase by contribution in kind 17 859 14 313 32 173
Reclassification between reserves -1 828 1 473 -649 1 005
Minority interests 7 1 19 534 561
Impact on reserves of the additional acquisition of 50% of Immo Bartan -1 261 -1 261
Costs of capital increase -531 -531
Others 75 -5 70
Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2010 (IFRS) 103 851 24 358 295 63 881 2 497 23 021 -11 179 -16 218 534 191 040
Total result 2010-2011 26 692 -1 270 7 122 32 544
Transfer of the result on the portfolio to the reserves available for distribution (result on portfolio) 10 395 -10 395 0
Dividends of financial year 2009-2010 -11 614 -11 614
Capital increase by contribution in kind 9 507 9 060 18 567
Reclassification between reserves -1 537 1 537 0
Minority interests -7 -1 -19 -534 -561
Legal reserves of subsidiaries 39 -39 0
Costs of capital increase -369 -369
Others 1 1
Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2011 (IFRS) 112 989 33 418 334 72 733 4 033 27 646 -12 449 -9 096 0 229 607
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share 

capital 

Ordinary 

shares

Share 

premium

Reserves

Result

Impact on fair value of  

estimated transaction 

duties and costs resulting 

from the hypothetical 

disposal of investment 

properties 

Changes in 

fair value 

of financial 

assets and 

liabilities

Minority 

interests

Total share-

holders’ 

equity

(in 000 €)

legal

available for 

distribution 

(result on 

portfolio)

available for 

distribution 

(others)

Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2009 (IFRS) 86 523 10 045 295 65 129 1 023 19 874 -10 810 -13 820 158 259
Total result 2009-2010 15 309 -1 374 -2 398 11 537
Transfer of the result on the portfolio to the reserves not available for distribution 1 760 -1 760
Dividends of financial year 2008-2009 -9 767 -9 767
Capital increase by contribution in kind 17 859 14 313 32 173
Reclassification between reserves -1 828 1 473 -649 1 005
Minority interests 7 1 19 534 561
Impact on reserves of the additional acquisition of 50% of Immo Bartan -1 261 -1 261
Costs of capital increase -531 -531
Others 75 -5 70
Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2010 (IFRS) 103 851 24 358 295 63 881 2 497 23 021 -11 179 -16 218 534 191 040
Total result 2010-2011 26 692 -1 270 7 122 32 544
Transfer of the result on the portfolio to the reserves available for distribution (result on portfolio) 10 395 -10 395 0
Dividends of financial year 2009-2010 -11 614 -11 614
Capital increase by contribution in kind 9 507 9 060 18 567
Reclassification between reserves -1 537 1 537 0
Minority interests -7 -1 -19 -534 -561
Legal reserves of subsidiaries 39 -39 0
Costs of capital increase -369 -369
Others 1 1
Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2011 (IFRS) 112 989 33 418 334 72 733 4 033 27 646 -12 449 -9 096 0 229 607
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4. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 642 582

1. Cash flow from operating activities 14 273 -123

Net result of the financial year: 26 692 15 309
Operating result 39 599 27 617
Interest paid -12 743 -11 836
Interest received 32 68
Dividends received
Corporation tax paid -227 -988
Accrued interest
Others 32 447

Non-cash elements to be added to/deducted from result -10 097 -1 216
* Depreciation  and Writedowns
 - Depreciation / writedowns (or writebacks) on intangible and tangible assets 177 178
- Depreciation / writedowns (or writebacks) on trade receivables 126 61

* Other non-cash elements
- Changes in fair value of investment properties -10 395 -1 760
- Profit on sale of investment properties -5 305

* Others

Change in working capital requirements: -2 322 -14 217
* Movements of assets:
- trade receivables 8 457 1 359
- Tax receivables and other current assets -1 160 -442
- Deferred charges and accrued income -10 38

* Movements of liabilities:
- trade and other current debts -10 077 -15 145
- other current liabilities 166 1
- accrued charges and Deferred income 301 -28
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(in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

2. Cash-flow from investment activities -18 656 5 999

Purchase of intangible assets -30
Purchase of investment properties -16 717 -11 755
Disposal of investment properties 8 820 45 783
Purchase of shares of investment companies -10 663 -31 713
Disposal of shares of investment companies 8 080
Purchase of other tangible assets -109 -75
Disposal of non-current financial assets
Income from trade receivables and other non-current assets 43 -43
Disposal of assets held for sale

3. Cash-flow from financing activities 4 890 -5 815

* Change in financial debts
- Increase in financial debts 29 205 19 882
- Decrease in financial debts -13 476 -15 761

* Change in other liabilities
- Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other liabilities 1 679 363
- Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other debts
 - Decrease minority interests -534

* Dividends
- Dividend for the previous year -11 614 -9 767

* Costs of capital increase -369 -531

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 1 150 642
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I. General company information

Retail Estates nv ('the Company') is a ‘SICAFI’ (in French) or 

‘BEVAK’ (in Dutch), that is a closed-end (= fixed capital) real 

investment company under Belgian law (similar in essence 

to a U.S. ‘REIT’), with its registered office in Ternat.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for 

the financial year ended on 31 March 2011 include the 

Company and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’). The financial 

statements were approved for publication by the Board 

of Directors on 27 May 2011 and will be presented to the 

annual shareholders’ meeting for approval on 27 June 

2011.

II Important principles for financial reporting

A. STATEMENT OF CONFORMITY

The consolidated annual accounts are drawn up in 

accordance with accounting standards consistent with 

the International Financial Reporting Standards as 

implemented by the Royal Decree of 7 December 2010 on 

the accounting, the annual accounts and the consolidated 

annual accounts of public real estate investment trusts, and 

amending the Royal Decree of 10 April 1995 on real estate 

investment trusts.

During the determination on the fair value of investment 

properties in accordance with IAS 40 Investment Property, 

the estimated amount of transaction duties and costs 

are deducted by the independent property expert. The 

abovementioned Royal Decree (RD) permits the impact 

on the fair value of investment properties due to these 

estimated transaction duties and costs resulting from 

hypothetical disposal of investment properties to be 

recognised directly in the equity in a specific account for 

this purpose “Impact on the fair value of the estimated 

transaction duties and costs resulting from the hypothetical 

disposal of investment properties”, as provided for in this 

RD. During the financial years ending on 31 March 2011 

and 31 March 2010 , EUR 1.27 million and EUR 0.37 million 

respectively were recognised directly in equity in this 

account.

Application of IFRS 3 Business Combinations

Acquisitions of companies during the past financial year have 

not been treated as business combinations as defined by IFRS 

3, based on the conclusion that this is not applicable, given 

the nature and size of the companies over which control has 

been acquired. These are companies which own a limited 

number of properties, and which it is not intended to hold 

as independent businesses. The companies are fully or 

proportionally consolidated in accordance with IAS 40.

New or amended standards and interpretations which 

are in force at 2010

•	 IFRS	3	Business	Combinations:	the	amended	

standard continues to use the cost method for 

business combinations, with a number of significant 

amendments. We refer to the paragraph 'Application 

of IFRS 3 Business Combination" above, as regards the 

application of this standard by the Group.

•	 Adaptation	to	IAS	27	Consolidated	and	Separate	

Financial Statements: the amended standard requires 

the effects of all transactions with minority shareholders 

to be recorded in equity where there is no change of 

control. 

The following published standards and interpretations 

became effective for the current financial year but have 

no effect on the presentation, the notes or the financial 

performance of the Group: adjustments to IFRS 5 and 

IFRS 7 following the Annual Improvements Project (May 

2008), amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 5, IFRS 8, IAS1, IAS 

7, IAS 17, IAS 18, IAS 36, IAS 38, IAS 39, IFRIC 9, IFRIC 

16 as a result of the Annual Improvements Project (April 

2009), amendments to IAS 39 - Eligible Hedged Items, 

amendment to IFRS 2 - Group Cash-Settled Transactions 
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and inclusion in the standard of IFRIC 8 and IFRIC 11, 

IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements, IFRIC 15 - 

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 16 

- Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation, IFRIC 

17-Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners, IFRIC 18 - 

Transfers of Assets from Customers.

New or amended standards and interpretations that are 

not yet in force

The following revised standards are viewed as most 

relevant to the Group:

Amendment to IAS 32- Classification of Rights Issues 

(1/2/2010), IFRIC 19-Extinguishing Financial Liabilities 

with Equity Instruments (1/7/2010), Revision of IAS 24 – 

Related Party Transactions (1/1/2011), Amendment of IFRIC 

14 – Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 

(1/1/2011), improvement of IFRS (2009-2010) (applicable to 

financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011).

The group does not expect any impact from these new or 

revised standards and interpretations on the presentation, 

notes or the financial results. 

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: classification and 

measurement (1/1/2013). The group needs to examine 

the impact of this new standard, if applicable, on the 

classification and valuation of financial assets and liabilities, 

including derivatives and hedge accounting.

B. Basis of preparation

The financial information is presented in thousands of 

euros, rounded off to the nearest thousand. The accounting 

principles are applied consistently within the Group.

Below you will find a summary of the most important 

principles for financial reporting. The accounting principles 

have been consistently applied during the whole of the 

relevant period.

C.Consolidation principles

The companies which the Group controls are consolidated 

according to the full consolidation method.

Full consolidation consists of incorporating all the assets 

and liabilities of the consolidated companies, as well as all 

the costs and the revenues, with the necessary eliminations.

Control is defined as the ability of Retail Estates nv 

to directly or indirectly determine the financial and 

operational policy of the subsidiary, with the objective of 

acquiring benefits from this company’s real estate activities.

 

For the treatment of certificates by the full consolidation 

method, Retail Estates nv must not only have control over 

the issuing company, but must also own 75% of the issued 

certificates. In this case an obligation is recognised towards 

the holders of certificates in respect of shares not held 

by the company. Eligible for such treatment are only the 

interests held in the real estate certificate 'Wickes Tournai, 

Mechelen,..' This real estate certificate was sold on 31 

October 2009.

D. Translation of foreign currencies

Currency transactions are entered at the exchange rate 

valid on the transaction date. Monetary assets and currency 

liabilities are valued at the final rate in force on the balance 

sheet date. Exchange rate differences deriving from the 

conversion of monetary assets and currency liabilities are 

entered in the income statement in the period when they 

occur. Non-monetary assets and currency liabilities are 

converted at the exchange rate valid at the transaction 

date.

E. Financial instruments

Fair value hedge

The Group uses financial derivatives (interest rate swaps) 

to hedge interest rate exposure arising from operational, 

financial and investment activities. Derivative financial 
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products are recognised initially at their cost price. 

After initial recognition, the financial derivatives are 

measured at fair value in the financial statements. Gains 

or losses that result from changes in the fair value of 

the financial derivatives are immediately recognised in 

the income statement, unless a derivative satisfies the 

conditions for hedge accounting. The fair value of the 

financial interest rate derivatives is the amount that the 

company expects to receive or pay if the financial interest 

rate derivative would be terminated as of the balance sheet 

date, in which the prevailing interest rate and the credit risk 

of the counterparty concerned are also taken into account.

Cash Flow Hedge

If a financial derivative can be documented as an effective 

hedge of the possible fluctuations of cash flows, which are 

attributable to a specific risk linked to an asset or liability 

or a highly probable forecast transaction, the part of the 

profit or loss that ensues from the change in value of the 

financial interest rate derivative that has been recognised 

as an effective hedge is posted directly to equity under 

“Changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities”. 

The ineffective part of the financial derivative is recognised 

in the income statement.

F. Goodwill

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is not amortised, but is 

annually subjected to an impairment test.

G. Investment properties

Valuation at initial recognition

Investment properties include all properties that are 

ready to let. Investment properties are initially valued at 

acquisition cost, including additional expenses and non-

deductible VAT. The exit tax, due from companies over 

which the Group acquires direct or indirect control is part 

of the acquisition cost (in principle it is deducted from the 

value of the underlying property given that it is a tax on the 

latent capital gain existing in the acquired company prior 

to the acquisition of control), unless these companies do 

not qualify for merger with the property fund (as decided 

by the Board of Directors). The commission regarding to 

the acquisition of the building is considered as additional 

costs of the acquisition and is added to the acquisition 

cost.

Valuation after initial recognition

At the end of each quarter, an independent property 

expert exactly appraises each of the following property 

elements:

•	 the	properties,	the	properties	by	function,	and	the	

rights on properties held by Retail Estates nv or a 

company it controls;

•		 option	rights	on	properties	held	by	Retail	Estates	nv	

or by a property company it controls, as well as the 

property to which these rights give entitlement;

•		 the	contract	rights	by	which	one	or	more	property	

assets are leased to Retail Estates nv or to a company it 

controls, together with the underlying assets.

The experts perform their appraisals in accordance with 

national and international standards and their application 

procedures, including those in the field of the valuation 

of property funds (according to the provisional decrees, 

the experts retain the right to adapt the valuation in the 

event of an amendments in the decrees). The fair value is 

defined as the most probable value that can be reasonably 

obtained between knowledgeable and willing parties in 

normal competitive conditions. Then an estimated amount 

for transfer taxes is deducted from this value. This is how 

the fair value of the asset is obtained in accordance with 

the meaning of IAS 40. The estimated amount of transfer 

taxes is valued at a flat rate set at 2.5% (see appendix 22 – 

investment properties).

Gains or losses that result from the fluctuation in the fair 

value of an investment property are recognised in the 

income statement and incorporated in the period in which 

they arise and, at the appropriation of profit, are assigned 

to the reserves available for distribution.
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Expenditure for works on investment property

The expenditure for works on investment property is 

charged to the operating property result if the expenditure 

has no positive effect on the expected future economic 

benefits, and is capitalised if it substantially increases the 

expected economic benefits that it brings to the entity. 

There are basically 2 important types expenditure:

a) the cost of maintenance and repairs to roofs and parking 

areas: these are charged against the operating property 

result;

b) costs of major transformation and improvement works: 

transformations are one-off projects that add an 

additional function to the building or considerably 

improve the existing comfort so as to increase the 

rental price and/or rental value. These costs relate 

to materials, fees, contracting works and the like. 

Internal management and supervisory costs are not 

capitalised. As soon as they are commenced, such 

works are included in the assessed value of the 

building in question (initially on a provisional basis 

and then definitively following a visit by the real estate 

expert). Work still to be executed is deducted from the 

valuation; once executed these costs are capitalised 

and thus added to the fair value of the investment 

properties.

Disposal of an investment property

The gains or losses realised on the sale of an investment 

property are classified as “result on disposals of investment 

property” and are allocated to the retained earnings for the 

purposes of the appropriation account. Commission paid to 

estate agents under a mandate to sell, transactions charges 

and liabilities resulting from transactions are a charge 

against the gain or loss realised on the sale.

H. Development projects

The development projects represent the cost of new 

building and/or conversion work, including the acquisition 

value of the land. Property assets under construction or in 

the process of reconstruction or expansion are valued at 

cost as the works progress, including incidental costs such 

as finance costs, registration duty and nondeductible VAT.

After the provisional completion of the construction work 

needed to make the building ready to let, the asset is fully 

transferred to the ‘Investment property’ item.

I. Other tangible fixed assets

Property, plant and equipment other than land and 

buildings, having a limited useful life, are valued at 

acquisition cost, and then depreciated over their expected 

useful life using the straight-line method.

In the year of the investment, depreciation is recorded pro 

rata to the number of months that the asset was in use.

The following annual depreciation and amortization 

percentages apply:

Plant, machinery and equipment 20%

Furniture 10%

Vehicles 20-33%

IT equipment 33%

Standard software 33%

Tailor-made software 20-25%

Leased equipment is depreciated over the contracted 

period of the lease.

If there are indications that an asset may have suffered an 

impairment loss, the carrying amount is compared with the 

realisable value. If the carrying amount is higher than the 

realisable value, an impairment loss is recognised.

When other tangible fixed assets are sold or retired, their 

carrying amount ceases to be recognised in the balance 

sheet and the gain or loss is recognised in profit and loss.

J. Trade accounts receivable and other non-current assets

Non-current receivables are discounted on the basis of 

the interest rates that apply on the date of acquisition. A 

writedown is entered if uncertainty exists concerning the 

collectability of the receivable at maturity.
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K. Real estate certificates

Valuation

1. General principle

If the holder of the certificates does not have material 

interest (more than 75%) in a real estate certificate as at the 

closing date, the certificates are entered at the weighted 

average quoted price during the preceding 30 days, and 

classified as Non-current Financial Assets. A deviation from 

this occurs if, on the basis of publicly available information 

and the issue conditions for the real estate certificate, a net 

asset value is noted that is substantially below the stock 

market price. The value is then limited to the net asset 

value.

2. Ownership of material interest (more than 75%) in 

certificates issued (as at 31 March 2011 only applicable to 

the “Distri-Land” real estate certificates)

The quoted price of these real estate certificates, as listed 

on the Euronext– Second Market, cannot be considered as 

a reliable reference given the limited liquidity of this real 

estate certificate. Retail Estates nv’s policy is to revalue its 

real estate certificates at every closing date in function of:

a) the fair value of the investment property owned by 

the issuer, similar to the valuation of the company’s 

own properties. This occurs on the basis of a periodic 

valuation by a property expert engaged jointly by 

Retail Estates nv and Immobilière Distri-Land nv. Where 

one or more buildings are sold by the real estate 

certificate issuer, the sale price shall be used as the 

valuation until the distribution of the sale’s proceeds;

b)  the contractual rights of the holder of the real estate 

certificate in compliance with the prospectus that was 

published at the insurance of the real estate certificate.

Retail Estates nv invests only in certificates issued for the 

financing of out-of-town  retail properties. The investment 

properties owned by the issuer are the type of out-

of town retail properties in line with Retail Estates nv’s 

investment objectives. Although Retail Estates nv is not 

the legal owner of these properties, it considers itself as 

the economic beneficiary pro rata its contractual rights 

in ownership. In addition an investment in real estate 

certificates is considered as investment property pursuant 

to art. 2, sub. 20° of the Royal Decree of 7 December 2010 

on property investment funds.

Taking these considerations into account, the certificates 

are classified as investment property at their acquisition 

cost including additional expenses. Gains or losses that 

result from the fluctuation in the fair value of investment 

property are recognised in the income statement and 

incorporated in the period in which they arise and at 

the appropriation of profits are assigned to the reserves 

available for distribution.

Treatment of coupons

1. Treatment of operating result

As a holder of the real estate certificates, Retail Estates 

nv has a contractual right, pro rata to the real estate 

certificates in its possession, to a share of the operating 

result realised by the issuer resulting from rent income 

minus operating and maintenance expenses. The entire 

decrease or increase in value is recognised by re-estimating 

the value of the real estate certificate. As a result the 

coupon should not be considered as a compensation for 

any reduction in value of the issuer’s buildings. For this 

reason the entire coupon is treated as net rental income 

and is classified as turnover.

2. Treatment of the liquidation balance on the sale of 

property

Whenever a particular property in the issuer’s portfolio 

is sold, it is treated as follows: the net proceeds, after 

retention of any withholding tax liability, are recognised 

as a realised capital gain in Retail Estates nv’s accounts 

only for the difference between the fair value of the real 

estate certificate at the closing date plus the net liquidation 

coupon and the fair value at the previous closing date.



Excerpt of the annual report 2011 Retail Estates 67

Financial REpoRt

The fair value of the real estate certificate is calculated 

at each closing date by performing a valuation of the 

certificate holder’s contractual rights as these appear in 

the issue prospectus. Gains or losses that result from the 

fluctuation in the fair value of investment property are 

recognised in the income statement and incorporated in 

the period in which they arise, and at the appropriation 

of profits are assigned to the reserves available for 

distribution.

L. Assets held for sale

This concerns properties for which the carrying amount will 

be basically realised at the sale of the assets and not by 

the further letting. Just like the investment properties (see 

above), these assets are recognised at fair value, which is 

the investment value less the transfer taxes.

M. Current assets

The receivables expected within one year are recognised 

at their nominal value, less write-downs for doubtful or bad 

debts.

Cash investments are recognised at the lower of 

acquisition cost or market value. Any supplementary costs 

are charged directly to the income statement. Listed 

securities are valued at their quoted price (on the balance 

sheet date).

N. Shareholders’ equity

The capital includes the funds obtained at formation, 

merger or increases of capital. The third-party charges 

that are directly attributable to the issue of new shares are 

deducted from the shareholders’ equity.

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased by 

the Group, the amount of the consideration paid, including 

directly attributable costs, is recognised as change in 

equity. Purchased shares are presented as a deduction 

from total equity.

Dividends are recognised as debt only when they are 

approved by the General Shareholders’ meeting.

O. Liabilities

Provisions

A provision is formed if :

-  Retail Estates nv has an existing – legally enforceable 

or actual – commitment as a result of an event in the 

past;

-  it is probable that an outflow of funds will be required 

to settle the commitment; and 

-  the amount of the commitment can be reliably 

estimated.

Trade debts are presented at their nominal value on 

balance sheet date.

Interest-bearing borrowings are initially recognised at cost 

price less the directly attributable costs.

Subsequently the interest-bearing borrowings are 

recognised at the current value of still payable balances, 

with each difference between the latter and the 

redemption value is recognised in the income statement 

over the term of the loan on the basis of the effective 

interest rate method.

P. Personnel benefits

Retail Estates nv provides a defined contribution pension 

scheme for its employees and general manager. This 

scheme is entrusted to a fund that is independent of the 

company. Contributions paid during the financial year are 

recognised as expenses.

Q. Property result

The net rental result includes the rent, operating lease 

income and other income related to these, minus the rent-

related expenses, being the negative variation in the fair 

value of buildings and the rent payable on leased assets.
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The recovery of property expenses includes the revenue 

from the charging on of major repair and maintenance 

costs .

The charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let 

properties and recovery of these expenses refer to costs 

that under law or custom fall to the expense of the tenant 

or lessee. The owner will either charge or not charge 

these costs to the tenant according to the contractual 

arrangements made with the tenant.

Income is valued at fair value of the compensation received 

and entered to the income statement using the straight-

line method in the periods to which it refers.

Compensation paid by lessees for the early termination of 

a lease contract is taken to income over a certain period 

according to the number of months’ rent the lessee has 

paid and insofar as the property in question has not been 

re-let.

R. Property charges

The property charges are valued at the fair value of the 

compensation that has been paid or is due, and are 

entered to the income statement using the straight-line 

method in the period to which it refers.

The technical costs include, among other things, structural 

and occasional maintenance and losses from damage 

covered by the insurance companies. The commercial 

costs include brokers’ commission fees. The property 

management costs mainly include the costs of the 

personnel responsible for this activity, the operating costs 

of the company’s registered offices and fees paid to third 

parties. Management fees received from tenants or third 

parties, which partially cover the management costs of the 

properties, are deducted.

S. Corporate operating costs and other current operating 

income and expenses

The corporate operating costs of the company cover the 

fixed operating costs of the company which operates as 

a legal, listed company and enjoys property Bevak status. 

These costs are incurred in order to obtain transparent 

financial information, to be economically comparable 

with other types of investments and to offer investors the 

opportunity of participating indirectly, in a liquid manner, in 

a diversified real estate investment. A portion of the costs 

incurred in the context of the company’s growth strategy 

are also included in this category.

T. Financial result

The financial result consists of the borrowing costs and 

additional funding costs, such as the negative variations in 

hedging instruments where these are not effective within 

the meaning of IAS 39, less the income from investments.

U. Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises 

current tax. Income tax is recognised in the income 

statement except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognised directly to equity in which case it is recognised 

in equity. Current tax is the expected tax payable on 

the taxable income for the year, using tax rate enacted 

or substantially enacted at balance sheet date, and any 

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

V. Exit tax

An exit tax is a corporate tax on the capital gain that arises 

upon merger of a fixed capital investment company (bevak) 

with a company that is not a bevak. When this company 

enters the consolidation scope of the Group, a provision 

for exit tax liabilities is recorded simultaneously with a 

re-evalution gain on the property corresponding to the 

market value of the property and taking into account a 
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forecasted merger date. In principle, intermediate revisions 

of this provision for exit tax take place only when the rise in 

value in this company’s property calls for this increase. Any 

overvaluation owing to reductions in value is established 

only at the time of effective realisation of the merger. Any 

subsequent adjustment to this tax liability is recognised in 

the income statement.

III. Financial risk management

Interest rate risk

51% of the Group’s net assets are funded by interest-

bearing debts which make the company subject to an 

interest rate risk. This risk is limited as much as possible 

by the prudent policy that is pursued: the majority of the 

financial debts are concluded at a fixed interest rate or at 

a variable interest rate that is hedged against interest rate 

rises.

Financing risk

The long-term financing is concluded in the form of 

“bullet loans”, which are loans for which the principal 

must be paid back in full after a term of 5 to 8 years. The 

diversification of financing over various banks limits the 

group’s liquidity risk. The group concludes 85% of its loans 

at a fixed interest rate or at a variable interest rate which 

is immediately converted to a fixed interest rate. The net 

result is therefore not sensitive to interest rate fluctuations.

Credit risk

Before a new tenant is accepted, a credit risk analysis 

is carried out on the basis of the available information. 

Furthermore, rental arrears are carefully monitored by the 

company. In cases of non-payment, the company generally 

holds a bank guarantee.

IV Segmented information

Since out-of-town shops make up 90% of the portfolio of 

Retail Estates, a breakdown by business segment is not 

relevant. The Board of Directors uses no other segment for 

taking its decisions.
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V Additional comments on the evolution of the debt 

ratio

A. Principle

Article 54 of the new Royal Decree of 7 December 2010 

on closed-end real estate investment funds (SICAV/BEVAK) 

requires publicly traded real estate investment companies 

to establish a financial plan with an implementation 

schedule when its consolidated debt ratio exceeds 50% 

of consolidated assets. The financial plan describes the 

measures to be taken to prevent the consolidated debt 

ratio from exceeding 65% of consolidated assets.

A separate report on the financial plan is prepared by 

the auditor, confirming that the latter has verified the 

method of drawing up the plan, particularly as regards 

the economic bases, and that the figures contained in this 

plan concur with the accounts of the public real estate 

investment company.

The general guidelines of the financial plan are included in 

the annual and half-yearly financial reports. The annual and 

half-yearly financial reports will describe and justify how 

the financial plan has been implemented during the period 

under review and how the public real estate investment 

company will implement the plan in the future.

B. Notes 2010-2011

Historical development of the debt ratio

The debt ratio of Retail Estates has risen above 50% since 

2008-2009. In that year the debt ratio was 56%, thereafter 

remaining stable at around 53%. Throughout its history the 

Retail Estates' debt ratio has never exceeded 65%.

Longer term evolution of the debt ratio 

The board considers a debt ratio of ± 55% as optimal for 

the fund's shareholders in terms of profitability and current 

earnings per share. During the review of each potential 

investment, the impact on the debt ratio is examined, and 

the investment turned down if it negatively affects the debt 

ratio. Based on the current debt ratio of 53.38%, Retail 

Estates has an investment potential of EUR 173 million 

without exceeding a debt ratio of 65%.

Short-term evolution of the debt ratio

Every quarter, the Board of Directors is presented with a 

projection of the debt ratio for the following quarter. It also 

discusses any deviations between the estimated and actual 

debt ratio during the previous quarter.

Given the planned investments and planned capital 

increases, the dividend for 2010-2011 (EUR 13.45 million) 

and budgeted profit forecast for the first quarter of 2011-

2012, the debt ratio should stand at 53.85% at 30/06/2011. 

Taking into account the profit forecast for the full year, the 

debt ratio will stand at 52.64% at 31/03/2012.

Other factors influencing the debt ratio

The valuation of the real estate portfolio also impacts the 

debt ratio. Taking into account the current capital base, a 

fall of EUR 93.22 million in the fair value of the real estate 

investments would take the company above the maximum 

debt ratio of 65%. This fall in value can be consequent 

to an increase in yield (at constant rental values the yield 

would need to rise by 1.7% to exceed the maximum 

debt ratio) or a fall in rent amounts (at constant yields, 

rents would in this case have to fall by EUR 6.54 million). 

Historically, the fair value of the property portfolio has 

constantly risen or at least remained stable ever since 

the company was established. At present there are no 

indications in the market pointing to a rise in yields. There 

are no significant vacancies in the highway retail outlets 

market segment and thus no pressure on rents.

If ever substantial value reductions were to occur, taking 

the debt level above 65%, Retail Estates would proceed 

to sell a number of its properties. Retail Estates has a 

solid track record in selling properties at their appraised 

investment value. In 2009-2010 it sold 27 properties with 

an aggregated selling price of EUR 47.37 million, and 
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during the past financial year it sold 13 properties sold 

with a net sales price of EUR 8.64 million. Overall, these 

properties were sold at their appraised investment value.

Conclusion

Retail Estates believes that, as a function of

- the investment fund's historical development

- the planned capital increases

- the track record with regard to sales

no additional measures need to be taken to prevent the 

debt ratio rising above 65%. It is the intention of the fund 

to maintain the debt ratio at around 55%. This level is 

regularly evaluated and will be reviewed by the Board 

if deemed necessary owing to a change in market or 

environmental factors.
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Rental income (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Rent 33 526 29 675
Guaranteed income
Operational lease income 749 1 142
Rental discounts
Rental benefits ('incentives') -15
Compensation for breach of contract

Total rental income 34 261 30 817

(in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Within one year 1 414 789
Between one and five years 5 897 5 328
More than five years 27 389 27 355

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Rounding to the nearest thousand can produce rounding differences between the balance sheet and the income 

statement and the details below.

PROPERTY RESULT

Note 1

The rise in rental income is mainly due to the growth of the real estate portfolio.

The table below indicates how much of the rental income could potentially be eliminated annually, i.e. if each tenant that 

has a termination option also effectively leaves the building and no renewed leases are concluded. This does not alter the 

theoretical risk of all lessees making use of their legal right of cancellation at the end of the current three-year period: in 

this circumstance all shop properties would be empty by definition within 3 years and 6 months.

Rental income type

Retail Estates concludes commercial rental contracts for its buildings, for a period of at minimum 9 years, which can 

usually be terminated after the expiry of the third and sixth year, subject to six months’ notice prior to expiry date. The 

rents are usually paid monthly in advance (sometimes quarterly). They are indexed annually on the anniversary of the 

rental agreement.

Taxes and levies, including advance property tax, the insurance premium and the common charges are borne by the 

tenant in principle. To guarantee compliance with the obligations imposed on the tenant by virtue of the agreement, the 

tenant must provide a rental guarantee, usually in the form of a bank guarantee worth 3 months of rent.
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At the start of the agreement an inventory of fixtures is drawn between the parties by an independent expert. At the 

expiry of the agreement the tenant must return the premises it hired in the state described in the inventory of fixtures on 

taking up occupancy subject to normal wear and tear.

The tenant cannot transfer the rental agreement or sublet the premises fully or partially, unless it has prior written 

permission from Retail Estates nv. The tenant is obliged to register the agreement at its own expense.

Note 2

Total charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let properties 31.03.11 31.03.10

Charges borne by the proprietor -893 -716
Prelevy and taxes -2 460 -2 747

Total charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let properties -3 352 -3 463

Recovery of charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let 
properties (in 000 €)

31.03.11 31.03.10

Reinvoicing of charges payable by tenants on let properties 605 514
Reinvoicing of prelevies and taxes on let properties 2 410 2 673

Total recovery of charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let properties 3 015 3 187

Rental-related expenses (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Rent for hired assets and lease costs -290 -256
Write down on trade receivables -126 -61

Total rental-related expenses -416 -317

Note 3

Note 4

The normal tenancy agreements usually provide for these expenses and taxes to be borne by the tenants to be recharged 

by the owner. A number of the Group’s tenancy agreements state, however, that taxes remain payable by the owner. 

This classification principally includes the costs of property withholding tax, insurance and utilities.
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Note 5

The costs of and taxes on unlet buildings include buildings that are vacant for a limited time in the context of a 

changeover between tenants and properties under development (withholding tax).

Technical costs (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Recurrent technical costs -790 -796
Structural maintenance -790 -796

Non-recurrent technical costs -246 -185
Occasional maintenance -158 -183
Claim events covered by insurance companies -113 -66
Compensations received from insurance companies 26 64

Total technical costs -1 036 -981

Commercial costs (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Brokers' commissions -51 -27
Marketing costs related to properties
Lawyers' fee and legal costs -17 -62
Others -31 -11
Total commercial costs -99 -101

Charges and taxes on unlet properties (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Vacancy charges of the financial year -13 -16
Withholding tax on vacant properties -27 -66

Total charges and taxes on unlet properties -40 -81

Other rental-related income and expenses (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Other rental-related income and expenses -39 -22

Total other rental-related income and expenses -39 -22

PROPERTY EXPENSES

Note 6

Note 8

Structural maintenance principally covers the regular renovation of car parks and roofs. Occasional maintenance, on 

the other hand, mainly includes unforeseeable costs for the structure of the let premises as a result of wear, uninsured 

accidents and vandalism.

Note 7
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Note 9

Management costs

Management expenses are subdivided into the costs of the management of the portfolio and other expenses.

Property management costs

These costs mainly include the costs of the personnel responsible for this activity, the operating costs of the company’s 

principal place of business and fees paid to third parties.  Management fees received from the tenants are deducted, and 

partially cover the management cost of the properties.

Personnel costs make up the greater part of the management costs. The table below gives an overview of employee 

count in FTE.

(in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Office charges -53 -62
IT -15 -30
Others -37 -32
Housing costs -81 -60
Fees to third parties -28
Public relations, communication and advertising -42 -4
Personnel expenses -739 -681
Salaries -433 -386
Social security -133 -106
Pensions and other benefits -35 -12
Others -138 -177

Management fees received from tenants -5 20
Taxes and regulatory fees
Depreciation charges on office furniture and IT equipment & software -99 -91

Total property management costs -1 018 -905

31.03.11 31.03.10

Property department 7.33 7.40
Total 12.70 12.60
Average 11.90 10.70
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Note 10

Note 11

Corporate operating costs

The corporate operating costs cover the fixed operating costs of the company that operates as a legal entity listed on 

the stock market and which benefits from the statue for the fixed-capital property investment companies. These costs are 

incurred to provide transparent financial information, to be economically comparable with other types of investments and 

to offer investors the opportunity to directly participate in a diversified property investment in a cash equivalent manner.  

A proportion of the costs incurred in the context of the company’s strategy are also included under this classification.

Other propery charges (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Other property charges -11 -42

Total other property charges -11 -42

(in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Office charges -32 -39
IT -11 -21
Others -21 -18
Housing costs -44 -39
Fees to third parties -405 -410
Recurrent -125 -97

Lawyers
Auditors -121 -93
Others -4 -4

Non-recurrent -125 -192
Lawyers -58 -36
Notaries -3 -13
Consultants -64 -142

Mergers and acquisitions (other than business combinations) -155 -121
Public relations, communication and advertising -43 -81

Personnel expenses -547 -427
Salaries -309 -268
Social security -97 -82
Pensions and other benefits -23 -9
Others -118 -68
Renumeration of board of directors -186 -159
Taxes and regulatory fees -810 -775

Total operating costs -2 067 -1 930
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In all, 13 properties were sold during the past year for a total amount of EUR 8.64 million. As in 2009-2010, strong 

demand from private investors continues for out-of-town  retail properties. Globally, the sales proceeds are in line with the 

investment values as assessed by the real estate expert and are thus higher than the sales prices established by the real 

estate expert.

Note 13

Note 12

Result on disposals of investment properties (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Acquisition value 8 640 53 589

Net result on investment property (selling price - transaction costs) 8 645 53 284

Total result on disposals of investment properties 5 -305

Changes in fair value of investment property (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Positive change in investment property 10 871 3 843
Negative change in investment property -476 -2 083

Total changes in fair value of investment property 10 395 1 760

Financial result (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Interest included in the cost of qualifying assets(1) 425 156
Interest received 10 0
Others 93 80

Total financial result 528 237

(1) Capitalised interest on temporary financing during the building period.  The average interest rate used to calculate the interest on temporary financing is 5.02%

The limited variation in the fair value of the investment properties is due to indexation, renovations and the tightening of 

yields in a number of top locations.

Note 14

Bijlage 15

Interest charges (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Nominal interest on loans -13 071 -12 234

Total interest charges -13 071 -12 234

The weighted average interest rate amounted to 4,97 % on 31.03.2011 and 5,13 % on 31.03.2010. The company has 

concluded almost all its investment loans with fixed interest rates or as long-term loans with variable interest rates that are 

hedged against fixed interest rates through IRS (interest rate swap) contracts.
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Note 17

Other financial charges (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Bank costs and other commissions -80 -96

Total other financial charges -80 -96

Income taxes (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Company -92 144
1. Income taxes 221 4

Tax rate of  33.99% 116 -13
Prior year tax adjustment 105 17

2. Result taxable at 16.5% (exit tax) -314 140

Subsidiaries -191 -359
1. Income taxes -405 -630

Current year taxes -406 -645
Prior year tax adjustment 1 14

2. Exit tax 214 272

Total income taxes -283 -215

Note 16

A sicafi/bevak is subject to corporation tax solely in respect of non-tax deductible expenditure and abnormal benefits. 

Deferred taxes are recorded for the subsidiaries on the difference between the carrying value after depreciation in the 

unconsolidated annual accounts of these subsidiaries and the fair value. These deferred taxes are recorded at a rate of 

16.995% where the boards of directors of Retail Estates and the subsidiary intend to merge the subsidiary with the sicafi/

bevak.

Note 18

Number of shares and earnings per share 31.03.11 31.03.10

Movement of the number of shares Number of shares Number of shares
Number of shares at the beginning of the financial year 4 639 127 3 845 381
Number of shares at the end of the financial year 5 061 663 4 639 127
Number of dividend bearing shares 4 981 959 4 432 804
Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share 4 915 380 4 213 191
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On 5 May 2010, the Board of Directors undertook, under the provisions applicable to the authorized capital, a capital 

increase of EUR 6.25 million (EUR 3.29 million share capital and EUR 2.96 share premium), following the contribution of all 

shares of Pillar Roeselare nv. In this transaction, 146,135 new shares were issued at EUR 42.77 per share. This issue price 

was determined based on the closing share price on NYSE-Euronext during the 30 days leading up to the issue.

These shares are fully entitled to dividends for the current financial year (from 1 April 2010).

On 21 June 2010, the Board of Directors undertook, under the provisions applicable to the authorized capital, a capital 

increase of EUR 5.06 million following the contribution of SA Caisse de Leasing. In this transaction, 118,293 new shares 

were issued at EUR 42.77 per share. This issue price was determined based on the closing share price on NYSE-Euronext 

during the 30 days leading up to the issue.

These shares are fully entitled to dividends for the current financial year (from 1 April 2010).

On 30 November 2010, Retail Estates NV acquired, in a capital increase out of authorized capital following various 

contributions in kind, exclusive control over Depatri nv and Asverco nv and the contribution of land from NV Agrimat. 

This contribution was remunerated by the issue of new shares at an issue price of EUR 7.26 per share. The capital increase 

was undertaken on the basis of an issue price of EUR 45.901 per share, based on the average closing price of the last 30 

trading days prior to the issue. The 158,108 new shares issued are profit and dividend-entitled pro rata for the period 

from 1 October 2010 to the end of the current financial year on 31 March 2011.

Note 19

Determination of minimum mandatory dividend pay-out amount

(in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Net result (consolidated) 26 692 15 309
Transactions of non-current nature included in net result (+/-)

Depreciation (+) and reversals of depreciation (-) 177 178
Other elements of a non-current nature 226 -351

Result on the sale of investment properties (+/-) -5 305
Changes in fair value of investment properties and project developments (+/-) -10 395 -1 760

Net operating result 16 695 13 682

The net operating result does not have to undergo any further adjustment for possible non-released capital gains on sales 

of investment properties.

A minimum of 80% of the net operating amount is required to be paid out.
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Note 20

Calculation of earnings per share (in €) Earnings per 

share

Earnings per 

share
31.03.11 31.03.10

Basic earnings per share (1) 5.43 3.63
Diluted earnings per share (2) 5.43 3.63
Distributable earnings per share (3) 3.30 3.25
Minimum profit distribution per share (4) 2.64 2.60

Proposed dividend per share € 2.70 2.62

Pay-out ratio 80.57% 84.89%

(1) The ordinary earnings per share is the net profit/loss as published in the income statement, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares

(2) The diluted ordinary earnings per share are the net profit/loss as published in the income statement, divided by the weighted average number of diluted 
shares

(3) The distributable earnings per share is the amount available for mandatory payment divided by the number of shares

(4) A sicafi/bevak is required to pay out at least 80% of its profit for the financial year. Retail Estates nv is paying a dividend of EUR 13.45 million, equal to 
80.57% of the net operating result.

Note 21

Intangible assets - other tangible fixed assets

Investment and amortisation table Intangible assets Other tangible fixed assets

(in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10 31.03.11 31.03.10

Acquisition value

At the end of the preceding financial year 424 585 675 600
Acquisitions 30 89 80 75
Transfers and disposals of assets (-) -250 -2
Transfers to/from other accounts -30

At the end of financial year 454 424 724 675

Amortisation and impairment losses

At the end of the preceding financial year 312 408 380 267
Balance of acquired companies 89
Amortisation (1) 68 65 110 113
Transfers and disposals of assets (-) -250 -30

At the end of financial year 380 312 459 380

Net book value 74 112 264 295

(1) Amortisation of non-current intangible assets and depreciation of other property, plant and equipment are recognised in the income statement under 
‘property management costs’. The depreciation on cars is included under the staff costs.
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Note 22

investment properties and assets held for sale

Investment properties are recorded at fair value, using the fair value model in accordance with IAS 40. The fair value is 

equal to the amount at which a building could be traded between well informed and willing parties acting under normal 

competitive conditions. 

It is determined by the independent experts in 2 phases.

In a first phase the experts determine the investment value of each property, based on the discounted value of the future 

net rental income.

The discount rate used mainly depends on the discount rates applied in the property market. These take account of 

the asset’s location, and the quality of the buildings and tenant on the date of valuation. The future rents amount to the 

contractual rental income over the period of the rental agreement in force and acceptable and reasonable hypotheses 

concerning rental income from future rental agreements in the light of the current conditions. This value matches the 

price which a third party investor (or hypothetical buyer) would pay to acquire the asset with the aim of enjoying the rental 

income and of generating a return on his investment.

In a second phase the experts deduct an estimated amount for transfer taxes (registration taxes and/or capital gains 

taxes) which the buyer or seller must pay to execute a transfer of ownership. The investment value minus the estimated 

transfer taxes is then the fair value within the meaning of  IAS 40.

Investment and revaluation table Investment properties Assets held for sale Total

(in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10 31.03.11 31.03.10 31.03.11 31.03.10

At the end of the preceding financial 

year

448 326 388 993 1 274 6 389 449 600 395 382

Acquisition of real estate investment 
companies

39 255 78 509 9 207 48 462 78 509

Interest included in the cost of qualifying 
assets

425 80 425 80

Acquisiton of investment properties 16 665 27 584 17 16 665 27 601
Disposal of real estate investment 
companies

-7 502 0 -7 502

Disposal of investment properties -7 191 -38 736 -1 629 -7 047 -8 820 -45 783
Transfers to assets held for sale -1 926 -1 857 1 926 1 857 0
Change in fair value (+/-) 10 033 1 255 59 10 032 1 313

At the end of financial year 505 588 448 326 10 778 1 274 516 366 449 600

OTHER INFORMATIONS

Investment property at investment value 517 767 459 473 11 047 1 306 528 814 460 779
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The transfer of ownership of property in Belgium is subject to transfer taxes. The amount of this tax depends on 

the transfer method, the capacity of the buyer and the geographical location of the asset. The first 2 elements, and 

consequently the total amount of the taxes to be paid, are therefore only known once the transfer of ownership has been 

completed. 

The range of property transfer options and the corresponding taxes are as follows:

•		 sale	agreements	for	real	estate	property:	12.5%	for	assets	located	in	the	Region	of	Brussels	Capital	and	in	the	Region	

of Wallonia, 10% for assets located in the Region of Flanders;

•		 sale	of	real	estate	under	the	broker	system:	5.0	to	8.0%	depending	on	the	Regions;

•		 long-lease	agreements	for	real	estate	property	(to	50	years	for	a	right	of	building	and	to	99	years	for	a	long	lease):	

0.2%;

•		 sale	agreements	for	real	estate	where	the	buyer	is	a	public	law	institution	(e.g.	a	European	Union,	Federal	

Government, regional government or foreign government entity): exemption from duties;

•		 contribution	in	kind	of	real	estate	assets	in	return	for	the	issue	of	new	shares	to	the	benefit	of	the	contributor:	

exemption from duties;

•		 sale	agreement	for	shares	from	a	property	firm:	absence	of	duties;

•		 merger,	split	and	other	company	reorganisations:	absence	of	duties,	etc.

As a result the effective percentage of the registration taxes varies from 0 to 12.5%, whereby it is impossible to predict 

which percentage is applicable to the transfer of a given Belgian property before the actual transfer has taken place.

In January 2006 all of the experts who were involved in determining the value of Belgian property fixed capital investment 

firms were asked to determine a weighted average percentage of the effective taxes for the property investment firms’ 

real estate portfolios. For transactions of properties with a value of over EUR 2.5 million and in view of the range of 

methods of transferring ownership (see above) the experts calculated the weighted average taxes at 2.5% based on 

a representative sample of 220 market transactions that took place between 2003 and 2005 worth a total amount of 

EUR 6.0 billion. This percentage will be reviewed annually and if necessary adapted by tranches of 0.5%. As regards 

transactions involving buildings whose total value is lower than EUR 2.5 million, transfer duties of 10% to 25% are applied, 

depending on the Region where the premises are located.

Retail Estates nv considers its property portfolio as a whole, that can be disposed of as a whole or unit or a limited 

number of larger parts. In compliance with the valuation as ‘fair value’ by its real estate expert Cushman & Wakefield, the 

value of this property was reduced by 2.5%, which reflects the expected transaction costs for the disposal of this property 

according to the valuers. 
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During 2010-2011, real estate companies were acquired in an amount of EUR 17.66 million. These real estate companies 

had a total of EUR 7.00 million of cash. The net cash flow from the purchase of real estate companies amounted in this 

way to EUR 10.66 million. This gave a EUR 49.74 million increase in property investments, a EUR -4.81 million variation 

in working capital and a EUR 15.69 million increase in financial debt. The acquisition of property companies was partly 

financed by the emission of new shares for an amount of EUR 18.57 million.

In addition, during the past financial year, 13 properties were sold, reducing the investment properties by EUR 8.82 

million.

During the 2009-2010 financial year, property companies were purchased in an amount of EUR 33.58 million. The 

property companies contain a total of EUR 1.87 million of cash. The net cash flow from the purchase of property 

companies amounted in this way to EUR 31.71. This produced a EUR 77.79 million increase in property investments, 

a EUR -7.61 increase in property developments, a EUR 19.77 million variation in working capital and a EUR 18.16 mio 

million increase in financial debts. Finally there is a EUR 0.54 million minority interest in the company Solido NV.

On 30 October 2009 all interests in Wickes Land Development nv (a subsidiary of Retail Estates nv, and also the issuer 

of the 'Wickes Tournai, Mechelen,…' real estate certificate) were sold, consisting of 100% of the shares in Wickes Land 

Development nv, as well as all real estate certificates held by Retail Estates nv (46,499 out of a total of 47,000 issued 

certificates) and Retail Estates nv's current account receivable from Wickes Land Development nv was repaid. The net 

cash flow from the sale amounted to EUR 8.08 million. Investment properties fell as a result by EUR 7.5 million, with a 

capital loss of EUR 0.70 million and a EUR -1.28 million variation in working capital.

In addition, during the past financial year, 31 properties were sold, reducing the investment properties by EUR 45.78 

million.

Note 23

Non-current financial assets (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Derivative financial instruments 1 033 293
Total non-current financial  assets 1 033 293

Trade receivables and other non-current assets (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Guarantees paid in cash 22 65

Total receivables and other non-current assets 22 65

Note 24
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Note 26

Trade receivables and doubtful debtors

Given the guarantees received – both bank guarantees and other guarantees requested – the credit risk on the trade 

receivables is limited to around 30% of the outstanding amount at 31 March 2011, equal to a risk of EUR 0.083 million 

(after deducting doubtful debtors).

The provision for doubtful debtors is established as follows: the overdue rent list is closely monitored internally. Based 

on an assessment by management, or if obvious and demonstrable reasons exist to suggest that the claim cannot be 

recovered, a provision is set up.

Assets held for sale (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Assets held for sale 10 778 1 274

Total assets held for sale 10 778 1 274

Current assets

Note 25

Trade receivables (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Trade receivables 1 453 1 484
Invoices still to be issued 154 102
Doubtful debtors -1 174 -1 122
Income to be collected 4 5
Coupon real estate certificats

Distri-land 246 248
Others

Total trade receivables 682 717

Doubtful debtors - roll forward (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

At the end of the previous financial year -1 122 -392
From acquired companies -12 -669
Additions & write-backs -126 -123
Write-backs 86 62

At the end of financial year -1 174 -1 122
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31.03.11 31.03.10

Due < 30 days 223 279
Due 30-90 days 60 94
Due > 90 days 1 169 1 111

Note 27

Note 28

Trade receivables are payable in cash. The table below gives an overview of the ageing structure of receivables:.

Tax receivables and other current assets (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

VAT receivable 4
Corporate tax receivable
Recoverable witholding tax 1 872 182
Receivable from real estate tax 64 62
Receivable from disposals of fixed assets
Others 542 1 077

Total tax receivables and other current assets 2 482 1 321

Note 29

Cash and cash equivalents (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Bank balances 1 150 642
Cash

Total cash and cash equivalents 1 150 642

Deferred charges and accrued income (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Other deferred charges 176 192
Other accrued income 29 3

Total deferred charges and accrued income 205 195
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Note 30

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital

Share capital evolution Capital  

movement

Total  

remaining 

capital after 

the transac-

tion

Number 

of created 

shares

Total number 

of shares

Date Transaction (in 000 €) (in 000 €)

12/07/1988 Formation - 74 3 000 3 000
9/03/1998 Split of shares - 74 27 283 30 283
9/03/1998 Contribution in kind 11 237 11 311 453 291 483 574
9/03/1998 Merger 3 255 14 566 346 638 830 212
9/03/1998 Cash contribution 6 071 20 637 346 000 1 176 212
10/03/1999 Capital decrease (incorporation of 

losses)
-5 131 15 505 - 1 176 212

10/03/1999 Merger  1 385 16 891 283 582 1 459 794
10/03/1999 Capital decrease (incorporation of 

losses)
-2 267 14 624 - 1 459 794

10/03/1999 Incorporation of losses -174 14 451 - 1 459 794
10/03/1999 Incorporation of share premium and 

revaluation gain
4 793 19 244 - 1 459 794

10/03/1999 Cash contribution 10 854 30 098 823 348 2 283 142
1/07/2003 Cash contribution 12 039 42 137 913 256 3 196 398
31/12/2003 Public offer on real estate certificates 

Distri-Land
4 907 47 043 372 216 3 568 614

5/11/2004 Partial incorporation of share premium 33 250 80 294 - 3 568 614
5/11/2004 Annulment of 20 shares -1 80 293 -20 3 568 594
10/08/2005 Merger through absorption 1 80 294 130 3 568 724
21/11/2006 Merger through absorption 10 80 303 228 3 568 952
30/11/2007 Contribution in kind in the context of a 

partial split
3 804 84 107 169 047 3 737 999

30/06/2008 Contribution in kind in the context of a 
partial split

1 882 85 989 83 632 3 821 631

5/09/2008 Contribution in kind 534 86 523 23 750 3 845 381
30/04/2009 Contribution in kind 5 625 92 148 250 000 4 095 381
24/11/2009 Contribution in kind in the context of a 

partial split
6 944 99 092 308 623 4 404 004

5/02/2010 Contribution in kind 4 380 103 472 194 664 4 598 668
31/03/2010 Contribution in kind in the context of a 

partial split
910 104 382 40 459 4 639 127

05/05/2010 Contribution in kind 3 288 107 671 146 135 4 785 262
21/06/2010 Contribution in kind 2 662 110 332 118 293 4 903 555
30/11/2010 Contribution in kind 2 212 112 544 98 301 5 001 856
30/11/2010 Contribution in kind 1 280 113 824 56 872 5 058 728
30/11/2010 Contribution in kind 66 113 890 2 935 5 061 663
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Article 6.2 of the articles of association : Authorised capital

The Board of Directors is expressly authorised to increase the issued capital of the company in one or more instalments 

up to a maximum amount of EUR 113,889,542.70. 

This authorisation is granted to the board of directors for a term of five years as from the publication in the Annexes 

to the Belgian Official Gazette of the amendment to the articles of association resolved by the Extraordinary General 

Meeting of 27 May 2011. This authorisation can be renewed. The board will determine the price, the share premium and 

the issue conditions for the new shares, except where the general meeting decides these itself.

Within the above-mentioned limit, and without prejudice to the mandatory provisions of the Companies Code, the 

board of directors may decide to increase capital, by contribution in cash or in kind, or by conversion of reserves or 

issue premiums, with or without the issue of new shares as the case may be. The board is also authorised by the general 

meeting to issue other securities, including but not limited to convertible bonds (subordinated or not), warrants, non-

voting shares and shares with preferential dividend and/or liquidation rights.

The board of directors is also authorised to limit or exclude the preferential right granted by the Companies Code 

to existing shareholders even in favour of one or more specified persons who are not employees of the company or 

any of its subsidiaries provided that existing shareholders are given an irreducible allocation right upon the issuing of 

new securities. This irreducible allocation right meets the conditions imposed by the legislation governing real estate 

investment companies and Article 6.4 of the Articles of Association. 

That right does not have to be granted for cash contributions in connection with the distribution of an optional dividend 

under the terms and conditions provided by Article 6.4 of the Articles of Association. 

Capital increases in the form of contributions in kind are undertaken in accordance with the provisions of the legislation 

governing real estate investment companies and Article 6.4 of the Articles of Association. Such contributions may also 

relate to the entitlement to dividends in connection with the distribution of an optional dividend. 

Notwithstanding the authorisation granted to the board under the preceding paragraphs, the board of directors is 

authorised to increase the issued capital, in one or more instalments, in the event of a public takeover bid on all the 

shares of the company, subject to the conditions stipulated in Article 607 of the Companies Code and where the 

company has been notified of the public takeover bid by the Financial Services and Markets Authority (FSMA) within three 

years of the extraordinary general meeting of 27 May 2011. Where applicable, the board of directors must apply the 

irreducible allocation right provided by the legislation governing real estate investment companies.  The capital increases 

resolved in the context of the above-mentioned authorisation will be deducted from the balance of the authorised capital 

provided in the first paragraph. 

If the board of directors, following its decision to increase capital, calls for the payment of an issue premium, the amount 

of this premium shall be paid into a blocked 'share premium' account, to serve in the same way as capital as a guarantee 

to third parties, and which, other than by incorporation into the capital, can only be reduced or written off by a resolution 

of the general meeting deliberating under the conditions laid down in Article 612 of the Companies Code.



88 Retail Estates Financial report

Article 6.3 of the articles of association : Acquisition of the company’s own shares

The company may acquire and dispose of its own shares under the conditions set by law. The Board of Directors is 

authorised, subject to the provisions of article 620 et seq of the Companies’ Code, to resolve that the company can 

acquire and dispose of its own shares whenever such acquisition or disposal is necessary in order to prevent imminent 

and serious detriment to the company. This authorisation is valid for 3 years from the date of publication in the Belgian 

Official Gazette of the amendment of the articles of association of 27 March 2011, and can be extended by the general 

meeting for the same term.

The Board of Directors is authorised, during a period of 5 year following the amendment of the articles of association of 

27 May 2011, to purchase its own shares at a price per share not lower than 85% of the closing stock market price of the 

day prior to the transaction and not higher than 115% of the closing stock market price of the day before the transaction 

date, with the company not being allowed to hold more than 20% of the total number of issued shares. These conditions 

and limits apply also for acquisitions and disposals of shares of the company by subsidiaries within the meaning of article 

627, §1 of the Companies Code, as well as shares acquired by persons acting on their own name but for the account of 

the subsidiary.

Article 6.4 of the Articles of Association Capital increase

Any capital increase must comply with Articles 581 to 609 of the Belgian Companies Code and the legislation governing 

closed-end real estate investment companies. 

The capital of the company can be increased through a decision by the general meeting, deliberating in accordance with 

the section 558 and, where appropriate, section 560 of the Belgian Companies Code, or by a decision of the Board of 

Directors within the framework of the authorised capital. The company is nevertheless prohibited from subscribing directly 

or indirectly to its own capital.

In the event of a capital increase by contribution in cash, resolved by the general meeting or in the framework of the 

authorised capital, the preferential right may be limited or eliminated only if the existing shareholders are granted an 

irreducible allocation right upon the granting of new securities. This irreducible allocation right shall satisfy the following 

conditions imposed by the legislation governing real estate investment companies:

1.  it shall cover all newly issued securities;

2.  it shall be granted to shareholders in proportion to the share of the capital represented by their shares at the time of 

the transaction;

3.  a maximum price per share shall be announced no later than the evening of the day before the opening of the public 

tender period, and

4.  the public tender period must in this case last for at least three trading days.

The irreducible allocation right applies to issues of shares, convertible bonds (subordinated or not) and warrants, but is 

not required in the event of contribution in cash with cancellation or limitation of preferential rights, supplementary to a 

contribution in kind in the context of the distribution of an optional dividend, to the extent that this dividend is effectively 

payable to all shareholders.
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Capital increases in kind are subject to the rules prescribed by Articles 601 and 602 of the Companies Code.

In addition, the real estate investment company legislation requires the following conditions to be met when issuing 

securities against contributions in kind:

1.  the contributor's identity must be stated in the report of the board of directors referred to in Article 602 of the 

Companies Code, and, where applicable, the notice convening the general meeting called for the purpose of the 

capital increase; 

2.  the issue price may not be less than the lower of (a) a net asset value, dating back no more than four months from the 

date of the contribution agreement or, at the choice of the public real estate investment company, from the date of 

the deed of capital increase, and (b) the average closing price during the thirty calendar days prior to that date.

 For the purposes of the preceding sentence it is permitted allowed to deduct from the amount mentioned in item (b) 

of the preceding paragraph an amount corresponding to the portion of the undistributed gross dividend to which the 

new shares may possibly not give entitlement, provided the board specifically justifies the amount to be deducted 

of the accumulated dividend in its special report and the financial terms of the transaction are explained in its annual 

financial report.

3.  except where the issue price or, in the case referred to in item 6.6 below, the exchange ratio and the modalities are 

defined no later than the business day following the closing of the contribution agreement and are communicated to 

the public specifying the time within which the capital increase will be effectively implemented, the deed of capital 

increase will be enacted within a maximum period of four months, and

4.  the report referred to under 1) must also provide information on the impact of the proposed contribution on the 

status of the former shareholders, particularly as regards their share in the profits, the net asset value and the capital, 

as well as in terms of voting rights.  

These additional requirements do not apply to the contribution of dividend rights in the context of the distribution of an 

optional dividend, in so far as this is made payable to all shareholders.

Where the meeting resolves to call for the payment of an issue premium, this shall be booked to a blocked reserve 

account which can only be reduced or written off by resolution of the shareholders' meeting, taken in the manner 

required for amendments of the Articles of Association and subject to the procedure for the reduction of company 

capital. The issue premium shall represent, in the same way as the company capital, the guarantee for third parties.
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Note 31

Share premium

Note 32

Share premium evolution  (in 000 €) Share premium

Date Transaction 31.03.11

Previous 
financial year

24 358

05/05/2010 Contribution in kind 2 962
21/06/2010 Contribution in kind 2 398
30/11/2010 Contribution in kind 2 300
30/11/2010 Contribution in kind 1 331
30/11/2010 Contribution in kind 69

Total share premium 33 418

As stated in note 22, Retail Estates nv considers its property portfolio as a whole that can be disposed of as a whole or as 

a limited number of larger parts. 

In accordance with valuation at ‘fair value’ from its property expert Cushman & Wakefield, the value of the properties was 

reduced by 2.5% subject to the experts’ expected transaction charges at the disposal of the properties. A limited number 

of specifically identified premises are, according to Retail Estates, very difficult to sell with this property portfolio, because 

the nature and/or location of these buildings mean they would have a negative effect on the value of the portfolio as 

a whole. Since the individual value of these premises lies below the threshold of EUR 2.5 million, the complete transfer 

costs of the region concerned, amounting to 10% or 12.5%, are deducted. On 1 April 2004, the date of the first 

application of the IAS/IFRS standards, the transfer charges that were deducted from the investment value amounted to 

EUR 4.9 million. This amount was recognised under this item in the shareholders’ equity.

Reserves (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Legal reserves 334 295
Distributable reserves (result on portfolio) 72 733 63 881
Distributable reserves (others) 4 033 2 497

TOTAL RESULT 77 100 66 673

Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs resulting from 
the hypothetical disposal of investment properties (in 000 €)

31.03.11 31.03.10

Amount at the end of the preceding financial year -11 179 -10 810
Change during the financial year -1 270 -369

Total Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs resulting from the 

hypothetical disposal of investment properties

-12 449 -11 179

Note 33



Excerpt of the annual report 2011 Retail Estates 91

Financial REpoRt

The group uses financial derivatives (interest rate swaps) to hedge against interest rate risks deriving from operating, 

financial and investment activities. Financial derivatives are initially recognised at cost price and revalued to fair value on 

subsequent reporting dates.

It should be noted that the negative valuation of the financial instruments does not impact Retail Estates’ net result. The 

Bevak classifies the interest rate swaps as cash flow hedging, having ascertained that the hedges were effective, i.e. that 

the amounts and maturities match those of the underlying loan agreements. Cash flow hedging is therefore applied to 

these swaps, as a result of which changes in the value of these swaps are recorded directly to equity without passing 

through the income statement.

Note 35

Note 34

Change in fair value of financial assets and liabilities (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps -9 096 -16 218

Total change in fair value of financial assets and liabilites -9 096 -16 218

Minority interests (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Minority interests 534

Other non-current liabilities (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Guarantees received in cash
Derivative financial instruments 10 129 16 511
Other non-current liabilities 2 060 381
Total other non-current liabilities 12 189 16 892

Note 36

Note 37

Trade debts and other current debts (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Trade debts 259 1 654

Advances received from tenants
Invoices to be received 1 894 1 418
Taxes payable 1 590 750
Exit tax 4 752 1 439
Other deferred taxes
Other current debts 418 368

Total trade debts and other current debts 8 914 5 630
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Note 38

Note 39

Note 40

Non-current and current financial debts

85% of the loans with a floating rate are fully hedged by interest rate swap contracts that swap the floating interest rate 

against against fixed interest rates. See note 41.

Other current liabilities 31.03.11 31.03.10

Dividends payable 320 159
Liabilities less than 1 year with related parties
Others 42 36

Total other current liabilities 361 196

Deferred charges and accrued income (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Other accrued charges 1 167 1 042
Deferred revenues (re- invoicing) 1 093 919

Total accrued charges and deferred income 2 260 1 961

Breakdown by due date of credit lines (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Non-current
Bilateral loans - floating or fixed rate 261 768 231 643
Subtotal 261 768 231 643

Current
Bilateral loans - floating or fixed rate 7 177 5 798

  Financial lease 80
Subtotal 7 177 5 879

Total 268 945 237 522

Breakdown by maturity of non-current financial debts 
(in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Between one and two years 19 022 11 031
Between two and five years 154 290 118 182
More than five years 88 455 102 430

Breakdown by the floating or fixed-rate nature of the loans (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Floating rate loans 236 386 202 702
Fixed rate loans 32 558 34 740
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The estimate of future interest takes account of the debt position at 31.03.2011 and of interest hedges under current 

contracts.  For the EUR 36.71 million unhedged portion of the debts, the Euribor rate at 31.03.2011 + banking margin is 

applied.

Estimate of the future interest burden - Total future interest burden

The degree to which Retail Estates can finance itself significantly impacts its profitability. Property investment generally 

entails a relatively high level of debt financing. To optimally limit this risk, Retail Estates apples a relatively cautious and 

conservative strategy. Debts are all in the form of long-term loahs, financed with various banks.

All debts are financed at fixed interest rates. Whenever a loan is concluded at a variable interest rate, it is immediately 

converted into a fixed interest rate. 86% of credits are financed in this way. In this way a rise in the interest rate has no 

substantial impact on the total result. 

In principal Retail Estates agrees with its banks a debt covenant of 60%.

Retail Estates has the following unused credit facilities (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Expiring within one year 8 500
Expiring after one year 20 500 29 500

Estimate of the future interest burden Total future interest burden

31.03.11 31.03.10

Within one year 13 045 12 126
Between one and five years 38 483 40 645
More than five years 5 269 8 393

Total 56 797 61 164



94 Retail Estates Financial report

2. Recognition

Given the short-term nature of the trade receivables and payables, the fair value approximates for practical purposes to 

the nominal value of these financial assets and liabilities. 

At 31 March 2011, Retail Estates had EUR 236.39 of financial debts at variable interest rates and EUR 32.56 of financial 

debts at fixed interest rates Of the debts at variable interest rates, EUR 199.67 are hedged with interest rate swap 

contracts.

The fixed interest rates at which these long-term debts were originally concluded in most cases no longer correspond to 

prevailing money market rates, leading to a difference between their carrying values and their fair values. The following 

table compares the total amount of the fixed-rate debts at carrying value and at fair value at the end of the 2010-2011 

financial year. Here the fair value of the fixed-rate debts is estimated by discounting their future cash flows at an interest 

rate that reflects the group’s credit risk.

At 31 March 2011 Total Assets or lia-

bilities at fair 

value through the 

income statement

Loans and 

receivables

Liabilities at 

amortised cost 

price 

ASSETS
Non-current financial assets

F. Non-current financial assets 1 033 1 033
I. Trade receivables and other non-current assets 22 22

Current financial assets
D. Trade receivables 682 682
E. Tax receivables and other current assets 2 482 2 482
F. Cash and cash equivalents 1 150 1 150

Total non-current financial  assets 5 369 1 033 4 336

Liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities 

B. Non-current financial debts 261 768 261 768
C. Other non-current financial liabilities 12 189 12 189

Current financial liabilities
B. Current financial debts 7 177 7 177
D. Trade debts and other current debts 8 914 8 914
E. Other current liabilities 361 361

Total financial liabilities 290 409 12 189 278 220

Note 41

Financial assets and liabilities

1. Overview
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The fair value is mentioned in the following table: the carrying value is the nominal value.

The fair values of the instruments are determined using solely data observable for the instrument (either directly or 

indirectly). These are not, however, listed prices in active markets and for this reason the IRS instruments belong to level 2 

of the fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 7. 

Overview of swaps:

1) Interest rate swap at KBC Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 37 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.0475 % against  

3 month Euribor, from December 2006 to December 2016.

2) Interest rate swap at Fortis Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 9 916, at a fixed interest rate of 4.14 % against  

3 month Euribor, from March 2008 to March 2013.

3) Interest rate swap at KBC Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 6 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.2075 % against  

3 month Euribor, from October 2007 to December 2016.

4) Interest rate swap at KBC Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 13 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.07 % against  

3 month Euribor, from March 2007 to September 2013.

31.03.11

Carrying value Fair value
Financial debts at fixed interest rate

32 558 33 257

Note 42

Financial instruments

Retail Estates classifies interest rate swaps as a cash flow hedge and the fact that the hedging was effective is ascertained. 

Cash flow hedge accounting is therefore applied to these swaps. On this basis, the changes in the value of these swaps 

are recognised directly in the equity capital and are not included in the income statement.

The method for determining the effectiveness of the hedge is as follows:

Prospective test: at the end of each quarter an examination is made of whether there is still a match in the future between 

the interest rate swap and the underlying financial obligation.

Retrospective test: the interest paid on the underlying financial obligation is compared with the floating interest cash flow 

from the swap based on ratio analysis. The ratio must lie between 80 and 125.

The market value of the interest rate swap is EUR - 9,096 on 31 March 2011. It is established on a quarterly basis by the 

issuing financial institution and is verified by ourselves by discounting the future contractual cash flows using identical 

interest rate curves. 

The fair value of liabilities to banks 
at the reporting date

31.03.11 31.03.10

(in 000 €) Activa Passiva Activa Passiva

Interest Rate Swap 1 033 10 129 293 16 511
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5) Interest rate swap at KBC Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 5 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.08 % against 3 month 

Euribor, from March 2008 to March 2018.

6) Interest rate swap at Fortis Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 10 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.77 % against  

3 month Euribor, from July 2007 to July 2017.

7) Interest rate swap at KBC Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 10 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.58 % against  

3 month Euribor, from August 2007 to July 2015.

8) Interest rate swap at KBC Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 6 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.39 % against 3 month 

Euribor, from January 2008 to August 2014.

9) Interest rate swap at KBC Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 20 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.60 % against  

3 month Euribor, from May 2007 to February 2015.

10) Interest rate swap at Dexia Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 10 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.87 % against  

3 month Euribor, from October 2008 to October 2013.

11) Interest rate swap at KBC Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 9 300, at a fixed interest rate of 4.52 % against 3 month 

Euribor, from September 2008 to October 2011.

12) Interest rate swap at Dexia Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 15 100, at a fixed interest rate of 2.315% against  

3 month Euribor, from March 2010 to September 2014.

13) Interest rate swap at Dexia Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 6 500, at a fixed interest rate of 4.935% against  

3 month Euribor, from March 2010 to September 2014.

14) Interest rate swap at Dexia Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 8 500, at a fixed interest rate of 4.935% against  

3 month Euribor, from March 2010 to September 2014.

15) Interest rate swap at Dexia Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 20 500, at a fixed interest rate of 1.66% against  

3 month Euribor, from January 2011 to April 2014.

16) Interest rate swap at Dexia Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 20 000, at a fixed interest rate of 3.215% against  

3 month Euribor, from June 2012 to June 2017.

17) Interest rate swap at Dexia Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 10 000, at a fixed interest rate of 3.03% against  

3 month Euribor, from November 2011 to November 2016.

18) Interest rate swap at Dexia Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 6 000, at a fixed interest rate of 3.345% against  

3 month Euribor, from September 2012 to September 2017.

19) Interest rate swap at Dexia Bank in a notional amount of KEUR 30 000, at a fixed interest rate of 3.685% against  

3 month Euribor, from November 2013 to November 2018.
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Executive officers and directors do not receive any other benefits from the company.

Retail Estates has no Executive Committee.

Note 44

Note 43

Related parties

The company’s related parties  are its subsidiaries, directors and member of the board of directors and executive officers.

Directors and members of the Board of Directors and executive officers  

Board of Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration is entered in the corporate operating costs (see note 11)

(in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Directors 386 359

Total 386 359

Note 45

Acquired real estate companies and property investments

Per 31.03.2010

The purchases and own developments in the 2009-2010 financial year result in a EUR 106.17 million increase in 

investment assets. Total rental income rises by EUR 3.92 million in the 2009-2010 financial year as a result of these 

investments. If these acquisitions had taken place on 1 April 2009, rental income would have risen by EUR 6.58 million.

Operating result rose by EUR 3.32 million as a result of these investments.

Auditor’s fee (ex VAT) 31.03.11

Remuneration of the auditor for the audit assignment 93

Remuneration for exceptional duties or special assignments
 - Other audit assignments 23
 - Tax consultancy assignments
 - Other assignments outsite the audit assignment 17
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Per 31.03.2011

The purchases and own developments in the 2010-2011 financial year resulted in a EUR 39.42 million increase in 

investment assets and a EUR 2.35 million increase in total rental income. If these acquisitions had taken place on 1 April 

2010, rental income would have risen by EUR 2.74 million. 

Operating result rose by EUR 2.02 million as a result of these investments.

Dispos al of real estate companies and real estate investments

Per 31.03.2011

On 30 October 2009 all interests in Wickes Land Development nv (a subsidiary of Retail Estates nv, and also the issuer 

of the ‘Wickes Tournai, Mechelen,…’ real estate certificate) were sold, consisting of 100% of the shares in Wickes Land 

Development nv, as well as all real estate certificates held by Retail Estates nv (46,499 out of a total of 47,000 issued 

certificates) and Retail Estates nv’s current account receivable from Wickes Land Development nv was repaid. The net 

cash flow from the sale amounted to EUR 8.08 million. A capital loss of EUR 0.75 million was recorded here. Total rental 

income fell by EUR 0.41 million as a result of this divestment. If the sale had taken place on 1 April 2009, rental income 

would have fallen by EUR 0.81 million.

In addition, during the past financial year, 27 properties were sold, reducing the investment properties by EUR 45.78 

million (fair value). The investment value of these properties amounted to EUR 46.92 million. The net sales price of these 

properties was EUR 47.37 million, giving a net capital gain of EUR 0.45 million. Rental income fell by EUR 1.73 million 

as a result of this divestment. If the sales had taken place on 1 April 2009, rental income would have fallen by EUR 3.23 

million.

Per 31.03.2011

During the past financial year, 13 properties were sold, reducing the investment properties by EUR 8.64 million. Rental 

income fell by EUR 0.37 million as a result of this divestment. If these sales had taken place on 1 April 2010, rental income 

would have been EUR 0.76 million lower.
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Note 46

Events after balance sheet date

Contribution in kind - capital increase

Retail Estates NV has reached agreement with the insurer Fidea for the contribution in kind of five retail properties, 

located in Genk (Winterslag), Houthalen-Hechteren, Jodoigne, Zonhoven and Kasterlee for a contribution value of EUR 

4.29 million, corresponding to the investment value as appraised by real estate expert CBRE. The buildings are leased to 

retail chains such as Aldi, Kruidvat, Brantano and Delhaize. No debts are being taken over.

These retail properties represent an annual rental income of EUR 0.27 million. After renovation of the properties in Genk, 

Houthalen-Hechteren, Jodoigne, Zonhoven and Kasterlee, the rental value is estimated by the real estate expert at EUR 

0.34 million. Retail Estates nv will use its expertise to achieve this optimization in the next few years.

This transaction will be carried out in the second half of June 2011 and will be the subject of a separate press release.

Amendments to the Articles of Association

On 9 May 2011 an extraordinary general meeting was convened to deliberate on the amendment of a number of 

provisions of the company's Articles of Association. As the required quorum was not reached, a second extraordinary 

general meeting was convened on 27 May 2011, with the same agenda.

More specifically, the Articles of Association were brought into line with the new Royal Decree of 7 December 2010 

governing Sicafi/Bevaks.

The new consolidated text of the Articles of Association is available on the website: www.retailestates.com under 

"Investor Relations/Official Documents".

Shareholders' attention is drawn to the fact that a number of provisions come into effect only from 1 January 2012.

Partial demerger of FUN SA - capital increase

On 31 March 2011 a demerger proposal was tabled for certain properties (three shops located in Mechelen and Sint-

Joris-Winge) currently owned by FUN Belgium nv to be transferred to Retail Estates nv. The target date for this partial 

demerger is 27 June 2011.

These properties represent a contribution value of EUR 12 million.
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To the shareholders

As required by law and the company’s articles of association, we are pleased to report to you on the audit assignment 

which you have entrusted to us. This report includes our opinion on the consolidated financial statements together with 

the required additional comment.

Unqualified audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Retail Estates SA, Public Belgian Real Estate 

Investment Fund (“the company”) and its subsidiaries (jointly “the group”), prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards as implemented by the Belgian Royal Decree of 7 December 2010 regarding de openbare 

vastgoedbevaks. Those consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2011, 

the consolidated  income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 

of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, as well as the summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. The consolidated balance sheet shows total assets of 522.278 

(000) EUR and the consolidated income statement shows a consolidated profit (group share) for the year then ended of 

26.692 (000) EUR. 

The board of directors of the company is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. This 

responsibility includes among other things: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the 

preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that are 

reasonable in the circumstances.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with legal requirements and auditing standards applicable in Belgium, as issued by the “Institut 

des Réviseurs d’Entreprises/Instituut van de Bedrijfsrevisoren”. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

In accordance with these standards, we have performed procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, we have considered internal control relevant to the group’s preparation and 

STATUTORY AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 TO THE 
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
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fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control. 

We have assessed the basis of the accounting policies used, the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 

company and the presentation of the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole. Finally, the board of directors 

and responsible officers of the company have replied to all our requests for explanations and information. We believe that 

the audit evidence we have obtained, provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position as of 31 

March 2011, and of its results and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards as implemented by the Belgian Royal Decree of 7 December 2010 betreffende de openbare 

vastgoedbevaks.  

Additional comment

The preparation and the assessment of the information that should be included in the directors’ report on the 

consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors.

Our responsibility is to include in our report the following additional comment which does not change the scope of our 

audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements:

•	 The	directors’	report	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements	includes	the	information	required	by	law	and	is	

in agreement with the consolidated financial statements. However, we are unable to express an opinion on the 

description of the principal risks and uncertainties confronting the group, or on the status, future evolution, or 

significant influence of certain factors on its future development. We can, nevertheless, confirm that the information 

given is not in obvious contradiction with any information obtained in the context of our appointment.

Diegem, 27 May 2011

The statutory auditor

DELOITTE Bedrijfsrevisoren / Reviseurs d’Entreprises

BV o.v.v.e. CVBA / SC s.f.d. SCRL

Represented by Rik Neckebroeck
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1. STATUTORY INCOME STATEMENT

INCOME STATEMENT (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Rental income 30 028 25 004
Rental related expenses -393 -358

Net rental income 29 635 24 646

Recovery of property expenses
Recovery of charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let properties 2 489 2 661
Charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let properties -2 745 -2 857

Other rental related income and expenses -27 -8

Property result 29 352 24 442

Technical costs -997 -551
Commercial costs -85 -41
Charges and taxes on unlet properties -26 -64
Property management costs -570 -566
Other property charges -11 -17

Property Charges -1 689 -1 239

Operating property result 27 663 23 203

Corporate operating costs -1 547 -1 343
Other current operating income and expenses

Operating result before result on the portfolio 26 116 21 859

Result on disposals of investment property 54 -214
Result on sales of other non financial assets
Changes in fair value of investment property 8 366 2 148

Operating result 34 537 23 793

Financial income 2 798 1 152
Interest charges -12 849 -10 709
Other financial charges -499 -1 639

Financial result -10 550 -11 196

Result before taxes 23 987 12 597

Taxes 221 122

Net Result 24 208 12 719
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ASSETS (in 000 €) 31.03.11 31.03.10

Non-current assets 515 964 425 616
Goodwill
Intangible assets 74 112
Investment properties 453 158 389 918
Other tangible fixed assets 264 295
Non-current financial assets 62 449 35 230
Trade receivables and other non-current assets 19 61

Current assets 7 525 10 830
Assets held for sale 1 196
Trade receivables 618 495
Tax receivables and other current assets 5 874 8 271
Cash and cash equivalents 605 559
Deferred charges and accrued income 428 309

TOTAL ASSETS 523 490 436 446

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (in 000 €) 31.03.10 31.03.10

Shareholders’ equity 229 989 194 401
Capital 112 989 103 851
Share premium 33 418 24 358
Reserves 77 254 65 316
Result 26 737 27 390
Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs resulting from the hypothetical 
disposal of investment properties

-11 313 -10 021

Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities -9 096 -16 493

Liabilities 293 500 242 045
Non-current liabilites 266 712 232 041
Provision
Non-current financial debts 256 583 215 255
  Credit institutions 256 583 215 255
  Financial lease
Other non-current liabilities 10 129 16 785

Current liabilities 26 788 10 003
Current financial debts 2 804 4 678
  Credit institutions 2 804 4 598
  Financial lease 80
Trade debts and other current debts 21 565 3 317
Other current liabilities 300 180
Accrued charges and deferred income 2 120 1 828

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 523 490 436 446

2. STATUTORY BALANCE SHEET
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General information

Name:  Retail Estates plc
Status:  Real estate investment company with fixed capital established according to Belgium law
Adress:  Industrielaan 6 – B-1740 Ternat
Telephone:  02/568 10 20
Fax:  02/581 09 42
Email:  info@retailestates.com
Website:  www.retailestates.com
Rpr:  Brussel
Btw:  BE 434 797 847
Venture number :  0434 797 847
Incorporated on:  12 July 1988
Status as real estate investment
company with fixed capital granted on:  27 March 1998
Statutory period of establishment:  Unlimite
Management:  Internal
Auditors :  Deloitte Bedrijfsrevisoren - Berkenlaan 8B te 1831 Diegem, represented by
  Mr Rik Neckebroeck
Financial year closing :  31 March
Capital :  113,889,542.70 EUR
Number of shares :  5,061,633
General Meeting :  last Monday of June
Share listing :  Euronext - continuous market
Depository bank :  KBC Bank 
Value of real estate portfolio :  Investment value EUR 518.04 million - fair value EUR 505.59 million
Real estate expert :  Cushman & Wakefield en CB Richard Ellis
Number of properties :  448
Type of properties :  City periphery retail outlets
Liquidity provider :  KBC Securities




